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UNITED STATES
U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q

þ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                      to                     .
Commission File Number 0-51110

VIACELL, INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or

Organization)

04-3244816
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

245 First Street, Cambridge, MA
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

02142
(Zip Code)

(617) 914-3400
(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes þ       No o
     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated
filer. See definition of �accelerated filer and large accelerated filer� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o      Accelerated filer þ      Non-accelerated filer o
     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934).
Yes o       No þ
     As of November 1, 2007, 40,542,174 shares of the Company�s common stock, $0.01 par value, were outstanding.
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ViaCell, Inc.
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

For the Fiscal Quarter Ended September 30, 2007
NOTE ABOUT REFERENCES TO VIACELL

Throughout this report, the words �we,� �our,� �us� and �ViaCell� refer to ViaCell, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
NOTE ABOUT TRADEMARKS

ViaCell® and ViaCord® are registered trademarks of ViaCell, Inc. ViaCytesm is a service mark of ViaCell, Inc. Cell
Sentineltm is a trademark of ViaCell, Inc. Motherhood Maternity®, A Pea in the Pod®, Mimi Maternity®, and
Destination Maternitytm are trademarks of Mothers Work, Inc. Gonal-f® and Ovidrel® are registered trademarks of
EMD Serono or its affiliates.

NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
     This report contains forward-looking statements, including statements about the proposed merger with
PerkinElmer, Inc., our current projections as to future financial performance, our expectations as to the potential and
anticipated results of our research and development programs, and the possible outcome of litigation related to our
intellectual property portfolio and other disputes. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current
expectations about such future events. While we believe these expectations are reasonable, forward-looking
statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our actual results
may differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements for various reasons, including those
discussed in this report in Part II, Item 1A � Risk Factors. Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to
place substantial weight on forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements included in this report are
made only as of the date of this report. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any of these statements.
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PART I � FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1 � Financial Statements

ViaCell, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(amounts in thousands except share and per share data)
(unaudited)

September
30,

December
31,

2007 2006
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,598 $ 18,039
Short-term investments 28,689 33,206
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $2,314 and $1,787 at September 30,
2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively 15,476 12,616
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,783 2,008

Total current assets 60,546 65,869
Property and equipment, net 7,756 8,376
Goodwill 3,621 3,621
Intangible assets, net 2,470 2,621
Restricted cash 1,795 1,795

Total assets $ 76,188 $ 82,282

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt obligations $ 41 $ 55
Accounts payable 930 960
Accrued expenses 10,703 9,550
Deferred revenue 9,111 7,300

Total current liabilities 20,785 17,865
Deferred revenue 19,705 14,666
Deferred rent 3,040 3,252
Contingent purchase price 6,000 8,155
Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion 9 27

Total liabilities 49,539 43,965
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; authorized 5,000,000 shares at
September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, none outstanding � �
Common stock, $0.01 par value; authorized 100,000,000 shares at
September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006; issued and outstanding
38,837,620 and 38,525,036 shares at September 30, 2007 and December 31,
2006, respectively 388 385
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Additional paid-in capital 234,655 232,215
Accumulated deficit (208,531) (194,490)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 137 207

Total stockholders� equity 26,649 38,317

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 76,188 $ 82,282

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
4
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ViaCell, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006
Processing and storage revenues $ 18,004 $ 14,466 $ 48,096 $ 39,765
Grant revenues � 201 95 521

Total revenues 18,004 14,667 48,191 40,286

Operating expenses:
Cost of processing and storage revenues 2,974 2,893 8,237 7,757
Research and development 2,835 3,570 8,824 10,696
Sales and marketing 12,375 9,901 35,404 27,818
General and administrative 4,427 4,474 13,542 14,124
In-process technology � � (2,155) �
Restructuring � (890) 267 (1,070)

Total operating expenses 22,611 19,948 64,119 59,325
Loss from operations (4,607) (5,281) (15,928) (19,039)
Interest income (expense):
Interest income 578 827 1,889 2,354
Interest expense (1) (8) (2) (50)

Total interest income, net 577 819 1,887 2,304
Loss from operations before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle (4,030) (4,462) (14,041) (16,735)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle � � � 283

Net loss $ (4,030) $ (4,462) $ (14,041) $ (16,452)

Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted net loss per share before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle $ (0.10) $ (0.12) $ (0.36) $ (0.44)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle � � � 0.01

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (0.10) $ (0.12) $ (0.36) $ (0.43)

Weighted average shares used in basic and diluted net
loss per share computation 38,836 38,377 38,762 38,345

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ViaCell, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(amounts in thousands)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006
Net loss $ (4,030) $ (4,462) $ (14,041) $ (16,452)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (94) (28) (70) (17)

Comprehensive loss $ (4,124) $ (4,490) $ (14,111) $ (16,469)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
6

Edgar Filing: VIACELL INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 9



Table of Contents

ViaCell, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(amounts in thousands)
(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (14,041) $ (16,452)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,702 1,687
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle � (283)
Stock-based compensation 1,849 2,285
Non-cash disposal of property and equipment 269 45
Warrant expense 19 �
Non-cash credit to in-process technology (2,155) �
Reserve for bad debt 960 1,090
Tenant improvement allowance � 60
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,819) 18
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 224 (424)
Accounts payable (30) (449)
Accrued expenses 1,153 1,887
Deferred revenue 6,850 5,024
Deferred rent (213) (854)

Net cash used in operating activities (7,232) (6,366)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (1,199) (1,405)
Proceeds from the sale of equipment � 25
Proceeds from maturities of investments 50,225 37,482
Purchase of investments (45,708) (39,214)
Decrease in restricted cash � 158

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 3,318 (2,954)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 575 57
Proceeds from refund of security deposit � 443
Repayments on credit facilities � (1,333)
Payments on capital lease principal (32) (50)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 543 (883)

Effect of change in exchange rates on cash (70) 42
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,441) (10,161)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 18,039 33,138
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Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 14,598 $ 22,977

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ViaCell, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)
1. Organization, Nature of Business and Merger Agreement
     ViaCell is a biotechnology company dedicated to enabling the widespread application of human cells as medicine.
The Company has a commercial business focused on women�s health that generates revenues from cord blood banking
service offerings through which families can preserve their baby�s umbilical cord blood for possible future medical
use. Stem cells from umbilical cord blood are a treatment option today for over 40 diseases, including certain blood
cancers and genetic diseases. The Company is also working to leverage its commercial infrastructure and product
development capabilities by developing ViaCyte sm , a product candidate being studied for its potential to broaden
reproductive choices for women through the cryopreservation of human unfertilized eggs. The Company�s other
research and development efforts are focused on investigating the potential for new therapeutic uses of umbilical cord
blood-derived stem cells and on technology for expanding populations of these cells. The Company is concentrating
these efforts in the areas of cancer, cardiac disease and diabetes.
     ViaCell was incorporated in the State of Delaware on September 2, 1994. The Company�s corporate headquarters
and research facility are located in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The Company has a processing and storage facility in
Hebron, Kentucky.
     On October 12, 2007, Victor Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation (�Purchaser�), and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of PerkinElmer, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (�PerkinElmer�), commenced a tender offer to purchase all
of the outstanding shares of the Company�s common stock at a purchase price of $7.25 per share. The Purchaser is
making the tender offer pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 1, 2007, by and among
PerkinElmer, the Purchaser and the Company (the �Merger Agreement�). The Merger Agreement provides that, among
other things, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, following completion of the tender offer, and in
accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the �DGCL�), the Purchaser will be merged with and into the
Company (the �Merger�) and the Company will continue as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of PerkinElmer. At the
effective time of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of the Company�s common stock (other than shares
owned by the Company, PerkinElmer, any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company or PerkinElmer and shares
held by stockholders who have perfected their statutory dissenters� rights of appraisal under Section 262 of the DGCL)
will be automatically converted into the right to receive $7.25 in cash per share (or any such higher price per share as
may be paid in the tender offer) from the Purchaser. The Merger Agreement provides for the payment of a termination
fee by the Company of up to $8.5 million under certain termination scenarios. In connection with the proposed merger
in October 2007, the Company paid its financial advisor $750,000 and has agreed to pay its financial advisor up to
1.5% of the transaction equity value, less amounts paid previously.

8
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
     The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2007 and for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, and related notes, are unaudited but, in management�s opinion
include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, that the Company considers necessary for
fair statement of the interim periods presented. The Company has prepared its unaudited, condensed consolidated
financial statements following the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�) for interim
reporting. As permitted under these rules, the Company has condensed or omitted certain footnotes and other financial
information that are normally required by accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (�GAAP�). The
Company�s accounting policies are described in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 and updated, as necessary, in this Form
10-Q. Results for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire
fiscal year or future periods. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
The year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet was derived from audited financial statements, but does not
include all disclosures required by GAAP.
Use of Estimates
     The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Stock-Based Compensation
     On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R �Share-Based
Payment� (�SFAS 123R�) using the modified prospective method, which results in the provisions of SFAS 123R only
being applied to the condensed consolidated financial statements on a going-forward basis (that is, the prior period
results have not been restated). Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, stock-based compensation
expense is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the grant date based on the value of the award
and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Employee stock-based
compensation expense was $0.6 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and
September 30, 2006, respectively. Employee stock-based compensation expense was $1.8 million and $2.3 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006, respectively. The Company had previously
followed Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,� and related
interpretations, which resulted in the accounting for employee stock options at their intrinsic value in the condensed
consolidated financial statements.
Net Loss Per Common Share
     Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by
dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of common
and potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive common shares consist of
the common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants and the conversion of convertible
preferred stock (using the if-converted method). Potentially dilutive common shares are excluded from the calculation
if their effect is anti-dilutive.

9
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     The following sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share
data):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006
Basic and diluted net loss per share
Net loss $ (4,030) $ (4,462) $ (14,041) $ (16,452)
Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 38,836 38,377 38,762 38,345

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.10) $ (0.12) $ (0.36) $ (0.43)

The following reflects the weighted average of potentially dilutive securities that were excluded from the calculation
of basic and diluted net loss per share because their effect was antidilutive (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006
Options 4,271 4,270 4,011 4,049
Warrants 1,193 1,443 1,216 1,597
In-Process Research and Development Expense
     As part of the Company�s acquisition of Kourion Therapeutics AG in September 2003, the Company was obligated
to make up to four future milestone payments of $3.0 million each to former shareholders of Kourion Therapeutics if
certain product development goals are achieved within specified timeframes. These milestone payments are payable in
cash or stock, valued at its fair market value at the time of issuance, at the election of each former Kourion
shareholder. Two of these milestone payments expired on December 31, 2006 and June 30, 2007, respectively. The
Company is not obligated to make either of these milestone payments because the related development goals were not
met within the required time frame. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had recorded $8.2 million in contingent
purchase price as a long-term liability on its condensed consolidated balance sheet associated with the then remaining
outstanding milestone payments, which were originally recorded as part of the purchase accounting associated with
the acquisition of Kourion Therapeutics to offset negative goodwill. On June 30, 2007, as a result of the failure to
meet the development goals required to be met by June 30, 2007, the Company reduced its long-term liabilities to
$6.0 million which represents the two remaining potential milestone payments. Since there are no other long-lived
assets on the Company�s condensed consolidated balance sheet, the reduction in long-term liabilities was recorded as a
credit to in-process research and development expense of $2.2 million in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. The
remaining potential future milestones must be achieved by December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012 respectively,
or they will also expire.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
     In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 159, �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities � Including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115� (�SFAS 159�), which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value. SFAS 159 will be effective for the first fiscal year that begins after November 15,
2007. The Company has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact of adoption of SFAS 159 on its financial
condition or results of operations.

10
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In March 2007, FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (Task Force) 07-3 (EITF 07-3) �Accounting for
Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities.�
EITF 07-03 provides guidance on whether non-refundable advance payments for goods that will be used or services
that will be performed in future research and development activities (R&D Activities) should be accounted for as
research and development costs or deferred and capitalized until the goods have been delivered or the related services
have been rendered. EITF 07-3 will be effective for the first fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2007. The
Company has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact and adoption of EITF 07-3 on its financial condition or
results of operations.
On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, �Fair Value Measurements�, which addresses how companies
should measure fair value when they are required to do so for recognition or disclosure purposes. The standard
provides a common definition of fair value and is intended to make the measurement of fair value more consistent and
comparable as well as improving disclosures about those measures. The standard is effective for financial statements
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. This standard formalizes the measurement principles to be
utilized in determining fair value for purposes such as derivative valuation and impairment analysis. The Company is
still evaluating the implications of this standard, but does not currently expect it to have a significant impact on its
financial condition on results of operations.
3. Accrued Expenses
     At September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

September
30,

December
31,

2007 2006
Payroll and payroll related $ 1,656 $ 1,904
Management incentive 897 1,047
Professional fees 2,431 1,829
Accrued marketing 3,676 2,079
Accrued restructuring 21 �
Deferred rent, current 357 345
Accrued taxes 256 459
Other 1,409 1,887

Accrued expenses $ 10,703 $ 9,550

4. Income Taxes
     On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48 - �Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes� (�FIN 48�), an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. FIN 48 establishes a single
model to address accounting for uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by
prescribing a minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before it can be recognized in the
financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement clarification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. Upon adoption of FIN 48, the Company did not
recognize any material adjustments in its liability for unrecognized income tax benefits.
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     As of January 1, 2007, the Company had net deferred tax assets of approximately $61.0 million representing
unrecognized tax benefits. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets as
the realization of such assets is uncertain.
     The Company conducts business in the U.S. and previously conducted business in Singapore and Germany. The
Company is subject to examination in the normal course of business by taxing authorities in all of these jurisdictions.
All of the Company�s tax years remain potentially open to examination by the taxing authorities in jurisdictions in
which the Company has federal and state net operating loss (�NOL�) carry forwards. As of September 30, 2007, no
examination related to income taxes has occurred.
     At December 31, 2006, the Company had federal and state NOL carry forwards of approximately $87.8 million
and $93.3 million, respectively, which begin to expire in 2009 and 2007, respectively, and federal and state research
and development (�R&D�) credit carry forwards of $3.4 million and $1.6 million, respectively, which begin to expire in
2009 and 2013, respectively. At December 31, 2006, the Company also had foreign NOL carry forwards of
$14.8 million. These carry forwards expire through 2024 and are subject to review and possible adjustment by the
local tax authorities. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state and
foreign provisions, utilization of the NOL and R&D credit carry forwards may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation in the event of ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These
ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D credit carry forwards that the Company can utilize
annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an ownership change, as defined by
Section 382, results from transactions increasing the ownership of certain shareholders or public groups in the stock of
a corporation by more than 50 percentage points over a three-year period. Since the Company�s formation, the
Company has raised capital through the issuance of capital stock on several occasions which, combined with the
purchasing shareholders� subsequent disposition of those shares, may have resulted in a change of control, as defined
by Section 382, or could result in a change of control in the future upon subsequent disposition.
     The Company has not currently completed a study to assess whether a change of control has occurred or whether
there have been multiple changes of control since its formation due to the significant complexity and cost associated
with such a study and that there could be additional changes of control in the future. If the Company has experienced a
change of control at any time since its formation, utilization of its NOL or R&D credit carry forwards would be
subject to an annual limitation under Section 382, which is determined by first multiplying the value of the Company�s
stock at the time of the ownership change by the applicable long-term tax-exempt rate, and then could be subject to
additional adjustments, as required. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the Company�s NOL or
R&D credit carry forwards before utilization. Until the Company completes a study and any limitations are known, no
amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position under FIN 48. The merger with PerkinElmer, if completed,
would constitute a change in control for purposes of Section 382. The Company has not assessed the impact on the
merger or its ability to utilize its NOL or R&D credit carry forwards.
     The Company has elected to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax
expense on its condensed consolidated statements of operations. As of September 30, 2007, the Company has not
accrued any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
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5. Commitments and Contingencies
Agreements
     In August 2007, the Company entered into an agreement under which EMD Serono, Inc., an affiliate of Merck
KGaA, will provide certain quantities of two of its products, Gonal-f® RFF Pen (follitropin alfa injection) and
Ovidrel® Prefilled Syringe (choriogonadotropin alfa injection), for the treatment of patients participating in the
ViaCyte study. EMD Serono also agreed to provide financial support related to the clinical development of ViaCyte.
In addition, the agreement provides EMD Serono with rights to negotiate a collaboration with the Company on the
commercialization of ViaCyte.
In August 2006, the Company entered into a data license and marketing services agreement with Mothers Work, Inc.,
a designer and retailer of maternity apparel. Mothers Work operates several maternity store retail chains such as
Motherhood Maternity, A Pea in the Pod, Mimi Maternity, and Destination Maternity. Under the terms of the
agreement, Mothers Work has granted the Company an exclusive license within the field of preserving stem cells
from cord blood and other sources to market directly to those Mothers Work customers who have affirmatively agreed
to permit disclosure of their data and information. Mothers Work has also agreed to provide certain in-store marketing
services related to the cord blood service offerings. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will pay Mothers
Work $5.0 million per year over the three-year term of the agreement which began on January 1, 2007 and, unless
earlier terminated, ends on December 31, 2009. Under certain circumstances, the Company will also be obligated, at
the beginning of 2009, to issue Mothers Work a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company�s common stock
with an exercise price of $6.29, which represents a 30% premium to the average closing price of the Company�s
common stock over the ten trading days immediately preceding January 1, 2007. The warrant would be exercisable for
a one year period beginning on January 1, 2010. The Company remeasures the fair market value of the warrant at each
reporting period and is recognizing expense over the three year term of the agreement. The agreement can be
terminated early by either company if the other company commits a material breach of the agreement or under certain
circumstances arising from claims by a third party alleging that the third party has rights that supersede Mothers
Work�s commitment to the Company. The dispute between Mothers Work and the third party was the subject of an
arbitration proceeding. In February 2007, the arbitrator ruled in favor of Mothers Work and subsequently denied a
challenge to his ruling by the third party. While there is no assurance that the third party will not again challenge the
ruling, the Company believes that reversal of this ruling is unlikely and that the termination rights under its agreement
with Mothers Work are unlikely to be triggered. As a condition to commencing the agreement on January 1, 2007, the
Company agreed to indemnify Mothers Work for any damages that Mothers Work may be assessed in the event that
Mothers Work is found to be in breach of its agreement with the third party as a result of having entered into an
agreement with the Company. The Company also agreed to reimburse Mothers Work for certain legal fees if the fees
exceed a specified threshold. The Company�s potential obligation to Mothers Work under the indemnification
agreement is unlimited. However, based on the Company�s assessment of the low likelihood that it might have to pay
damages or legal fees given the arbitrator�s ruling, the Company concluded that the fair value of its indemnification
obligation is not material and has not recorded a liability as of September 30, 2007.
     In June 2006, the Company entered into a research collaboration agreement with the Stem Cell Internal Venture
(�SCIV�) of Centocor Research and Development, Inc. to evaluate ViaCell�s proprietary cord blood-derived multi-potent
stem cells in preclinical testing as a potential treatment for cardiac disease. The collaboration is also supported by the
Biologics Delivery Systems Group of Cordis Corporation, and is focused on dosing, delivery and targeting of
ViaCell�s expanded proprietary cord blood stem cells using Cordis� Myostar injection catheter and NOGA XP cardiac
navigation system. Under the terms of the agreement, ViaCell received an initial up-front payment of $350,000 which
it
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recorded as a liability and is amortizing as a reduction of research and development expense, as work is performed.
SCIV is responsible for its own costs under the collaboration and is obligated to pay 50% of the research costs that
ViaCell incurs under the collaboration, consistent with the agreed upon budget. As of September 30, 2007, SCIV has
reimbursed the Company approximately $0.6 million of these costs. In addition, the agreement provides SCIV with
the first right to negotiate a collaboration with ViaCell on the clinical development and commercialization of a cardiac
product offering based on ViaCell�s proprietary cord blood stem cells.
     In January 2005, the Company entered into a supply agreement with Miltenyi Biotec GmbH (�Miltenyi�). The supply
agreement with Miltenyi provided for the exclusive supply by Miltenyi to ViaCell of cell separation kits used by the
Company in its CB001 program, an investigational cord blood stem cell product for hematopoietic stem cell
transplantation being studied for the treatment of a variety of cancers, which was terminated in the first quarter of
2007. In July 2007, as provided for under the terms of the agreement, the Company terminated the supply agreement.
The effective date of the termination will be in January 2008. The costs incurred in conjunction with the Company�s
remaining commitment to purchase cell separation kits, which totaled approximately $0.2 million, were accrued as
research and development expenses during the quarter ended June 30, 2007. The Company has since paid Miltenyi the
full amount of the approximate $0.2 million that it had previously accrued. Separate from these costs, the Company
has received correspondence from Miltenyi requesting payment of $0.6 million for alleged additional purchase
obligations under the supply agreement. Based upon the terms of the supply agreement, the Company does not believe
it is obligated to pay Miltenyi the $0.6 million and that it is unlikely that it will be required to make such payment.
Accordingly, the Company has not accrued for this $0.6 million claim as of September 30, 2007.
     In addition to the revenues generated by the Company�s cord blood banking service offerings, the Company
recorded revenues in the prior periods presented from a grant agreement with the Economic Development Board
(�EDB�) of the Government of Singapore. The Company and the EDB finalized an agreement in the quarter ended
June 30, 2007 with respect to the conclusion of the grant, which expired in May 2007. The agreement resolved a
dispute related to the impact of a prior period increase in the EDB�s cost reimbursement percentage provisions of the
grant, and a related dispute concerning an assertion by the EDB that the Company had not fulfilled a commitment to
employ a specified number of people in Singapore which was an original condition of the grant. The Company ceased
operations in Singapore in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. As a result, the Company recorded a restructuring charge
of $0.3 million related to employee severance and facility-related costs in the quarter ended June 30, 2007, all of
which was paid as of June 30, 2007. The Company does not have any ongoing rights to receive grant payments from
EDB nor does it have any continuing obligations to EDB or to its former employees in Singapore. Prior to conclusion
of the EDB grant agreement, the Company had received grant payments from EDB totaling approximately
$1.9 million.
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Litigation
In 2002, PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. filed suit against the Company and several other defendants in the U.S.
District Court for the District of Delaware, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents No. 5,004,681 (�681) and
No. 5,192,553 (�553), relating to certain aspects of the collection, cryopreservation and storage of hematopoietic stem
cells and progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood. In July 2007, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
issued a decision, described below, confirming the Company�s belief that it does not infringe these patents and that the
patents are invalid.
In 2003, a jury ruled against the Company and other defendants, CBR Systems Inc., CorCell, Inc., a subsidiary of
Cord Blood America Inc., and Cryo-Cell International Inc, who represent a majority of the family cord blood
preservation industry. The jury found that the patents were valid and enforceable and that the defendants infringed the
patents. A judgment was entered against the Company for approximately $2.9 million, based on 6.125% royalties on
the Company�s revenue from the processing and storage of umbilical cord blood since April 2000. In 2004, the District
Court judge in the case overturned the jury�s verdict and entered judgment in the Company�s favor and against
PharmaStem, stating that PharmaStem had failed to prove infringement of both patents. PharmaStem appealed that
decision, and the Company appealed the jury�s finding as to validity of the patents. On July 9, 2007, the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that the Company did not infringe the two PharmaStem patents at issue and that
the two patents are invalid. On July 23, 2007, PharmaStem filed a petition for a re-hearing of the case before the full
bench of the Court of Appeals. In September 2007, the Court of Appeals denied PharmaStem�s petition. Consequently,
the Company has not recorded a liability as of September 30, 2007.
     In July 2004, PharmaStem filed a second complaint against the Company. The second complaint was filed in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents No. 6,461,645 (�645) and
6,569,427 (�427), which also relate to certain aspects of the collection, cryopreservation and storage of hematopoietic
stem cells and progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood. On January 7, 2005, PharmaStem filed a Motion for a
Preliminary Injunction, which is currently stayed. At the same time, PharmaStem brought suit against other
defendants, including other family cord blood banks, regarding the �645 and �427 patents. The Company filed a motion
to consolidate the Massachusetts case with six other actions against other defendants in a single proceeding in the
District of Delaware. On February 16, 2005, the Company�s request was granted, and the cases were consolidated in
the District of Delaware. The Company believes that the issues presented in this case are substantially the same as the
issues presented in the original Delaware case. The Company also believes that it does not infringe the �645 and �427
patents asserted in this second case and that those patents are invalid for the same reasons that the Court of Appeals
found the �681 and �553 patents to be invalid.
     On October 6, 2005, the Delaware court granted the Company�s motion to stay all discovery in the consolidated
cases pending the decision from the Federal Circuit on the appeal of the District Court of Delaware�s ruling in the
Delaware case and from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (�U.S. PTO�) on the patent re-examinations described
below. In June 2007, the Company informed the Delaware Court of the status of the re-examinations. On July 10,
2007, the Company also informed the Delaware court that the Federal Circuit had ruled in its favor. The Delaware
Court has yet to take any action in response to these notices.
     In late 2006, the U.S. PTO issued final decisions in the initial re-examination of the patents at issue in both cases.
The U.S. PTO subsequently issued notice of its intent to allow the remaining claims of all of the patents. In July 2007,
additional re-examination requests challenging each of the patents were filed with the U.S. PTO. The U.S. PTO has
granted all of the requests for re-examination and is currently in the process of re-examining each patent.
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     In either of the pending cases, if the Company is ultimately found to infringe valid claims of the PharmaStem
patents, the Company could have significant damage awards entered against it. If the Company is found to infringe at
any time during the course of either case, including if the Supreme Court were to overturn both the non-infringement
and invalidity rulings of the Court of Appeals, the Company could also face the risk of an injunction, which could
prohibit the Company from further engaging in the umbilical cord stem cell business absent a license from
PharmaStem. PharmaStem would be under no legal obligation to grant the Company a license or to do so on
economically reasonable terms, and PharmStem previously informed the Company that it would not do so after
October 15, 2004. Although the Company does not believe that the foregoing outcome is likely to occur, if the
Company is enjoined and is unable to obtain a license on economically reasonable terms or at all, and the Company
cannot operate under an equitable doctrine known as �intervening rights,� the Company could be required to stop
preserving and storing cord blood and to cease using cryopreserved umbilical cord blood as a source for stem cell
products. The Company may enter into settlement negotiations with PharmaStem regarding the litigation. The
Company cannot predict whether any such negotiations would lead to a settlement of these lawsuits or what the terms
or timing of any such settlement might be, if at all.
     The Company has undertaken a review of its various job classifications for legal compliance under state and
federal employment laws. Based on that review, the Company has identified certain job classifications that may be
subject to possible challenge and for which there is a reasonable possibility that the Company could incur a liability,
although the Company also believes that the present classifications can be supported and defended. It is not possible
based on the current available information to reasonably estimate the scope of any potential liability.
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS
     The following discussion and analysis by our management of our financial condition and results of operations
should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes
appearing at the beginning of this report. This discussion and other parts of this report contain forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions.
Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Part II � Item 1A (Risk
Factors) of this report.
Overview and Merger Agreement
ViaCell is a biotechnology company dedicated to enabling the widespread application of human cells as medicine. We
have a women�s health business that generated revenues of $48.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2007
and $39.8 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from cord blood banking service offerings through
which expectant families can preserve their baby�s umbilical cord blood for possible future medical use. Stem cells
from umbilical cord blood are a treatment option today for over 40 diseases, including certain blood cancers and
genetic diseases. We are also working to leverage our commercial infrastructure and product development capabilities
by developing ViaCyte, our product candidate being studied for its potential to broaden reproductive choices for
women through the cryopreservation of human unfertilized eggs. Our other research and development efforts are
focused on investigating the potential for new therapeutic uses of umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells and on
technology for expanding populations of these cells. We are concentrating these efforts in the areas of cancer, cardiac
disease and diabetes.
     Our management uses consolidated financial information in determining how to allocate resources and assess
performance. We have determined that we conduct operations in one business segment.
The majority of our revenues since inception have been generated in the U.S. and the majority of our long-lived assets
are located in the U.S.
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     On October 12, 2007, Victor Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation (�Purchaser�), and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of PerkinElmer, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (�PerkinElmer�), commenced a tender offer to purchase all
of our outstanding shares of common stock at a purchase price of $7.25 per share. The Purchaser is making the tender
offer pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 1, 2007, by and among PerkinElmer, the
Purchaser and us (the �Merger Agreement�). The Merger Agreement provides that, among other things, subject to the
satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, following completion of the tender offer, and in accordance with the
Delaware General Corporation Law (the �DGCL�), the Purchaser will be merged with and into us (the �Merger�) and we
will continue as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of PerkinElmer. At the effective time of the Merger, each issued
and outstanding share of our common stock (other than shares owned by us, PerkinElmer, any of ours or PerkinElmer�s
direct or indirect subsidiaries and shares held by stockholders who have perfected their statutory dissenters� rights of
appraisal under Section 262 of the DGCL) will be automatically converted into the right to receive $7.25 in cash per
share (or any such higher price per share as may be paid in the tender offer) from the Purchaser. The Merger
Agreement provides for the payment of a termination fee by us of up to $8.5 million under certain termination
scenarios. In connection with the proposed merger, in October 2007, we paid our financial advisor $750,000 and have
agreed to pay our financial advisor up to an additional 1.5% of the transaction equity value, less amounts previously
paid.
     Except as otherwise stated, the discussion and analysis below is based upon the operations of ViaCell as an
independent company without consideration for the effects of the proposed Merger with PerkinElmer.
Revenues
     Our current revenues are derived primarily from fees charged to families for the processing and storage of a child�s
umbilical cord blood stem cells collected at birth. These fees consist of an initial charge for collection, processing and
freezing of the umbilical cord blood stem cells and an annual storage fee. The annual storage fee provides an annuity
of future revenue which grows as the number of stored umbilical cord blood stem cells increases. Our revenues are
recorded net of discounts and rebates that we offer our customers from time to time under certain circumstances. Our
revenues have increased substantially over the last several years as umbilical cord blood banking has gained increased
popularity; however, we are unable to predict our long-term future revenues from our umbilical cord blood
preservation business and any previous growth in revenue is not necessarily predictive of future results. We offer our
customers the opportunity to pay directly to us or to finance them with a third party credit provider. The majority of
our customers pay their fees directly to us; accordingly, we assume the risk of losses due to unpaid accounts. We
maintain a reserve for doubtful accounts to allow for this exposure and consider the amount of this reserve to be
adequate as of September 30, 2007.
     We are in ongoing litigation with PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. over PharmaStem�s claims that our umbilical cord
blood preservation business infringes certain claims of PharmaStem�s patents. In the second half of 2004, the Delaware
District Court overturned a jury verdict of infringement against us. PharmaStem appealed the District Court�s decision
and filed a separate suit claiming that we infringe additional patents. On July 9, 2007, the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the Federal Circuit ruled that we did not infringe the two PharmaStem patents at issue in the Delaware case and that
the two patents are invalid. Based on these two rulings and the subsequent denial of PharmaStem�s petition for a
re-hearing of the case argued before the U.S. Court of Appeals to the full bench of the Court of Appeals, we do not
expect the PharmaStem litigation to have a material adverse impact on our net sales, revenues or income from
continuing operations. However, PharmaStem may appeal the decision of the U.S. Court of Appeals
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to the U.S. Supreme Court. Should the U.S. Supreme Court agree to review the matter and decide to overturn both the
non-infringement and invalidity rulings of the Court of Appeals and were we to ultimately lose the Delaware litigation
or the additional ongoing litigation with PharmaStem, it could have a material adverse effect on our revenues or
income from continuing operations, including, possibly, resulting in an injunction preventing us from operating our
umbilical cord blood preservation business.
Operating Expenses
     Cost of processing and storage revenues reflects the cost of transporting, testing, processing and storing umbilical
cord blood stem cells at our processing facility in Hebron, Kentucky. Cost of processing and storage revenues includes
expenses incurred by third party vendors relating to the transportation of cord blood stem cells to our processing
facility and certain assay testing performed by a third party on the umbilical cord blood before preservation. Other
variable costs include collection materials, labor, and processing and storage supplies. Other fixed costs include rent,
utilities and other general facility overhead expenses. Cost of processing and storage revenues does not include costs
associated with our grant revenues. These costs are included in research and development expenses.
     Our research and development expenses consist primarily of costs associated with development of our product
candidates, including ViaCyte, our oocyte cryopreservation product candidate, our preclinical research evaluating our
proprietary cord blood-derived multi-potent stem cells as a potential treatment for cardiac disease, and CB001, an
investigational cord blood stem cell product for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation being studied for the treatment
of a variety of cancers, the development of which we stopped in the first quarter of 2007. Our research and
development expenses also include costs associated with improving and expanding our cord blood banking service
offerings. Our research and development expenses primarily consist of preclinical and clinical development costs, and
costs associated with non-clinical support activities such as toxicological testing, manufacturing, process development
and regulatory services. The cost of our research and development staff is the most significant category of our
research and development expenses, however, we also incur research and development expenses for external service
providers, including those involved in preclinical studies, consulting, and lab supplies. The cost of developing our new
product candidates is difficult to predict due to the uncertainties inherent in our research and development programs,
the timing and scope of our clinical trials, the rate of patient enrollment in our clinical trials, and the detailed design of
future clinical trials. In addition, the results from our clinical trials, as well as the results of trials of similar
therapeutics under development by others, will influence the number, size and duration of planned and unplanned
trials. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate the results of our research and development programs. Based on these
evaluations, we consider options for each program, including, but not limited to, terminating the program, internally
funding continuing research and development with the eventual aim of commercializing products, and seeking
third-party collaborators or other parties to fund all or portions of such programs. There can be no assurance that our
research and development programs will be successful.
     Our sales and marketing expenses relate to our women�s health business and, in particular, our cord blood banking
service offerings. The majority of these costs relate to our sales force and support personnel, marketing expenses and
telecommunications expense related to our call center. We also incur external costs associated with advertising, direct
mail, promotional and other marketing services. We may, from time to time, implement additional promotions and
other marketing programs that may increase sales and marketing expenses, and augment our internal marketing efforts
with external relationships such as the data license and marketing services agreement we entered into with Mothers
Work in August 2006. For a description of our agreement with Mothers Work, including the risks related thereto, see
�Commitments and Contingencies� Other Arrangements�.
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     Our general and administrative expenses include costs related to the finance, legal, human resources, business
development, investor relations and corporate governance areas. These costs consist primarily of expenses related to
our staff, as well as external fees paid to our legal and financial advisors, business consultants, and others. We expect
that these costs will increase in future years as we expand our business activities.

Results of Operations
Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 (table amounts in thousands)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change
Processing revenues $ 14,383 $ 11,714 23% $ 37,759 $ 32,146 17%
Storage revenues 3,621 2,752 32% 10,337 7,619 36%

Total processing and storage
revenues 18,004 14,466 24% 48,096 39,765 21%
Grant revenues � 201 (100)% 95 521 (82)%

Total revenues $ 18,004 $ 14,667 23% $ 48,191 $ 40,286 20%

     The increase in processing revenues of $2.7 million, or 23%, from the three months ended September 30, 2006 to
the three months ended September 30, 2007, and the increase in processing revenues of $5.6 million, or 17%, from the
nine months ended September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended September 30, 2007 were due primarily to an
increase in the total number of units of umbilical cord blood stem cells processed, and to a lesser extent to an increase
in the average selling price for cord blood processing.
     The increase in storage revenues of $0.9 million, or 32%, from the three months ended September 30, 2006 to the
three months ended September 30, 2007, and the increase in storage revenues of $2.7 million, or 36%, from the nine
months ended September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended September 30, 2007 were due primarily to increases in
the number of units of umbilical cord blood stem cells stored and to a lesser extent due to a slight increase in the
average selling price for cord blood storage.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change
Cost of processing and
storage revenues $2,974 $2,893 3% $8,237 $7,757 6%
     The increase in cost of processing and storage revenues of $0.1 million, or 3%, from the three months ended
September 30, 2006 to the three months ended September 30, 2007 and the increase in cost of processing and storage
revenues of $0.4 million, or 6%, from the nine months ended September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended
September 30, 2007 were due primarily to increases in variable expenses related to the increased number of umbilical
cord blood stem cell units processed and an increase in the number of umbilical cord blood stem cell units stored.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change
Research and
development $2,835 $3,570 (21%) $8,824 $10,696 (18%)
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     During the three months ended September 30, 2007, our research and development expenses primarily related to
our ViaCyte product candidate and our cardiac cord blood program, as well as regulatory, quality, research and other
development costs associated with cord blood banking. During the three months ended September 30, 2006, our
research and development expenses also included site costs and the cost of the cord blood associated with our CB001
clinical trial. The decrease in research and development expenses of $0.7 million, or 21%, from the three months
ended September 30, 2006 to the three months ended September 30, 2007 was primarily due to the reduction in
clinical expenses associated with CB001, as well as a reduction in other expenses associated with our decision, made
in the first quarter of 2007, not to advance development of CB001. The decrease in research and development
expenses of $1.9 million, or 18%, from the nine months ended September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended
September 30, 2007 was primarily due to the reduction in research and development expenses from our decision to not
advance CB001 in further clinical trials, partially offset by costs associated with the manufacturing of ViaCyte media
and initiation of our ViaCyte pivotal clinical trial and costs incurred of $0.2 million in conjunction with the
termination of a supply agreement with a vendor that provided us with cell separation kits used in our CB001
program. As of September 30, 2007, four clinical sites were actively screening and enrolling patients for the ViaCyte
pivotal clinical trial and we expect to add additional clinical sites in the near future.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change
Sales and marketing $12,375 $9,901 25% $35,404 $27,818 27%
     The increase in sales and marketing expenses of $2.5 million, or 25%, from the three months ended September 30,
2006 to the three months ended September 30, 2007, and the increase in sales and marketing expenses of $7.6 million,
or 27%, from the nine months ended September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended September 30, 2007 were
primarily related to increased staffing within both the internal and external sales organization and increased external
marketing expenses to strengthen our market presence.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change
General and administrative $4,427 $4,474 (1%) $13,542 $14,124 (4%)
     The decrease in general and administrative expenses of $0.05 million, or 1%, from the three months ended
September 30, 2006 to the three months ended September 30, 2007 was primarily due to decreased stock-based
compensation and employee-related expenses, offset by an increase in bad debt expense and credit card fees
associated with revenue growth as well as legal costs associated with the PerkinElmer transaction.
     The decrease in general and administrative expenses of $0.6 million, or 4%, from the nine months ended
September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was primarily due to decreased accounting fees and
outside service fees associated with compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, a decrease in stock-based
compensation and a decrease in employee-related expenses.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change
Restructuring $ � (890) 100% $267 $(1,070) (125%)
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     We ceased operations in Singapore in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. As a result, we recorded a restructuring
charge of $0.3 million related to employee severance and facility-related costs in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. No
further restructuring charges were recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2007.

Three Months
Ended

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, September 30,
2007 2006 Change 2007 2006 Change

Interest income $ 578 $ 827 (30)% $ 1,889 $ 2,354 (20%)
Interest expense (1) (8) 88% (2) (50) 96%

Total interest income, net $ 577 $ 819 (30)% $ 1,887 $ 2,304 (18%)

     Interest income is earned primarily from the investment of our cash in short-term securities and money market
funds. The decrease in interest income of $0.2 million, or 30%, from the three months ended September 30, 2006 to
the three months ended September 30, 2007 primarily relates to a decrease in investment balances. The decrease in
interest income of $0.5 million, or 20% from the nine months ended September 30, 2006 to the nine months ended
September 30, 2007 primarily relates to a decrease in investment balances.
     The decreases in interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 compared to the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2006 relate to repayments of debt obligations.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
     From inception through September 30, 2007, we have raised $193.1 million from common and preferred stock
issuances, including $53.3 million in net proceeds from our IPO in January 2005. We used approximately
$15.5 million of the net proceeds from the IPO to repay in full related party notes of $14.0 million, and accrued
interest on the notes of $1.5 million. As of September 30, 2007, we had approximately $43.3 million in cash, cash
equivalents and investments.
     Table excerpted from our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in millions):

Nine Months
Ended

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, September 30,
2007 2006 $ Change

Net cash used in operating activities $ (7.2) $ (6.4) $(0.8)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 3.3 (3.0) 6.3
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 0.5 (0.9) 1.4
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 14.6 $ 23.0 $(8.4)
Operating Activities  
     Net cash used in operating activities was $7.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase
of $0.8 million from the $6.4 million used in operating activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2006. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2007, the $7.2 million cash used in
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operating activities was primarily due to our net loss of $14.0 million and a net increase in working capital (accounts
receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses) of $2.5 million and, to
a lesser extent, a decrease in deferred rent of $0.2 million. These uses of cash were partially offset by net non-cash
expenses of $2.6 million and a net increase in deferred revenue of $6.9 million. The increase in deferred revenue of
$6.9 million primarily related to sales of long-term pre-paid storage contracts.  Net cash used in operating activities
was $6.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, an increase of $5.4 million from the $1.0 million
used in operating activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2005. For the nine months ended September 30,
2006, the $6.4 million cash used by operations was primarily due to our net loss of $16.5 million and a decrease in
deferred rent of $0.9 million. These uses of cash were partially offset by non-cash expenses of $5.0 million, net
increases in deferred revenue of $5.0 million, and a net decrease in working capital (accounts receivable, prepaid
expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses) of $1.0 million. The increase in deferred
revenue of $5.0 million primarily related to sales of long-term pre-paid storage contracts.
Investing Activities     
     Net cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was $3.3 million as
compared to net cash used in investing activities of $3.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2007, $50.2 million of U.S. Government and high-rated corporate securities
matured and $45.7 million was invested in similar securities. We also invested approximately $1.2 million in property
and equipment for the nine months ended September 30, 2007. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006,
$37.5 million of U.S. Government and high-rated corporate securities matured and $39.2 million was invested in
similar securities. We also invested $1.4 million in property and equipment for the nine months ended September 30,
2006.
Financing Activities
     Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was $0.5 million as
compared to net cash used in financing activities of $0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2007, the net cash provided by financing activities was principally related to
proceeds from stock option exercises. Net cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 30,
2006 was $0.9 million, principally related to repayments of $1.3 million on our long-term debt, offset by proceeds
received from the refund of a security deposit from a lender of $0.4 million and proceeds from stock option exercises
of $0.1 million.
     We anticipate that our current cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to fund our operations and
meet our anticipated liquidity needs for at least the next three years based upon our current plans. However, our
forecast for the period of time during which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations and
meet our anticipated liquidity needs is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual
results could vary materially. If we are unable to raise additional capital when required or on acceptable terms, we
may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue one or more research and development programs or other
aspects of our operations proceeds from stock option exercises or we may enter into licensing deals, collaborations or
other strategic efforts or take other actions which change our plans and affect our revenues, expenses and cash
requirements.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
     Other than outstanding warrants exercisable for up to 1,193,333 shares of our common stock at September 30,
2007 and the warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock which we will issue to Mothers Work, under
certain circumstances, on January 1, 2009 in connection with our data license
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and marketing services agreement, we have no �off balance sheet arrangements�, as defined by Item 303(a)(4) of the
SEC�s Regulation S-K.
Other Arrangements
EMD Serono, Inc.
     In August 2007, we entered into an agreement under which EMD Serono, Inc., an affiliate of Merck KGaA, will
provide certain quantities of two of its products, Gonal-f RFF Pen (follitropin alfa injection) and Ovidrel Prefilled
Syringe (choriogonadotropin alfa injection), for the treatment of patients participating in the ViaCyte study. EMD
Serono also agreed to provide financial support related to the clinical development of ViaCyte. In addition, the
agreement provides EMD Serono with rights to negotiate a collaboration with us on the commercialization of
ViaCyte.
Mothers Work Data and Marketing Services Agreement
     In August 2006, we entered into a data license and marketing services agreement with Mothers Work, Inc., the
world�s largest designer and retailer of maternity apparel. Mothers Work operates several large maternity store retail
chains such as Motherhood Maternity, A Pea in the Pod, Mimi Maternity, and Destination Maternity. Under the terms
of our agreement, Mothers Work has granted us an exclusive license within the field of preserving stem cells from
cord blood and other sources to market directly to those Mothers Work customers who have affirmatively agreed to
permit disclosure of their data and information. Mothers Work has also agreed to provide certain in-store marketing
services related to our cord blood banking service offerings. Under the terms of our agreement, we will pay Mothers
Work $5.0 million per year over the three-year term of the agreement which began on January 1, 2007 and, unless
earlier terminated, ends on December 31, 2009. Under certain circumstances, we will also be obligated, at the
beginning of 2009, to issue Mothers Work a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock. A third party is
claiming that it has rights under an agreement with Mothers Work that supersede Mothers Work�s commitment to us.
The dispute between Mothers Work and the third party was the subject of an arbitration proceeding. In February 2007,
the arbitrator ruled in favor of Mothers Work and subsequently denied a challenge to his ruling by the third party.
While there is no assurance that the third party will not again challenge the ruling, we believe that reversal of this
ruling is unlikely and that the termination rights under our agreement with Mothers Work are unlikely to be triggered.
As a condition to commencing the agreement on January 1, 2007, we agreed to indemnify Mothers Work for any
damages that Mothers Work may be assessed in the event that Mothers Work is found to be in breach of its agreement
with the third party as a result of having entered into an agreement with us. We also agreed to reimburse Mothers
Work for certain legal fees if the fees exceed a specified threshold. Our potential obligation to Mothers Work under
the indemnification agreement is unlimited. However, based on our assessment of the low likelihood that we might
have to pay damages or legal fees given the arbitrator�s ruling, we concluded that the fair value of our indemnification
obligation is not material and have not recorded a liability as of September 30, 2007.
Miltenyi
     In January 2005, we entered into a supply agreement with Miltenyi Biotec GmbH (�Miltenyi�). The supply
agreement provided for the exclusive supply by Miltenyi to us of cell separation kits that we used in our CB001
program, which was terminated in the first quarter of 2007. In July 2007, as provided for under the terms of the
agreement, we terminated the supply agreement. The effective date of the termination will be
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in January 2008. The costs incurred in conjunction with our remaining commitment to purchase cell separation kits,
which totaled approximately $0.2 million, were accrued as research and development expenses during the quarter
ended June 30, 2007. We have since paid Miltenyi the full amount of the approximate $0.2 million that we had
previously accrued. Separate from these costs, we have received correspondence from Miltenyi requesting payment of
$0.6 million for alleged additional purchase obligations under the supply agreement. Based upon the terms of the
supply agreement, we do not believe that we are obligated to pay Miltenyi the $0.6 million and that it is unlikely that
we will be required to make such payment. Accordingly, we have not accrued for this $0.6 million claim as of
September 30, 2007.
     We are a party to various agreements in addition to those previously discussed, including license, research
collaboration, consulting and employment agreements, and expect to enter into additional agreements in the future.
We may require additional funds for conducting clinical trials and for preclinical research and development activities
relating to our product candidates, as well as for the expansion of our cord blood preservation facility, construction of
a cellular therapy manufacturing facility, acquisitions of technologies or businesses, the establishment of partnerships
and collaborations complementary to our business and the expansion of our sales and marketing activities.
Legal Proceedings
     In 2002, PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. filed suit against us and several other defendants in the U.S. District Court
for the District of Delaware, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents No. 5,004,681 (�681) and No. 5,192,553 (�553),
relating to certain aspects of the collection, cryopreservation and storage of hematopoietic stem cells and progenitor
cells from umbilical cord blood. In July 2007, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued a decision,
described below, confirming our belief that we do not infringe these patents and that the patents are invalid.
     In 2003, a jury ruled against us and other defendants, CBR Systems Inc., CorCell, Inc., a subsidiary of Cord Blood
America Inc., and Cryo-Cell International Inc, who represent a majority of the family cord blood preservation
industry. The jury found that the patents were valid and enforceable and that the defendants infringed the patents. A
judgment was entered against us for approximately $2.9 million, based on 6.125% royalties on our revenue from the
processing and storage of umbilical cord blood since April 2000. In 2004, the District Court judge in the case
overturned the jury�s verdict and entered judgment in our favor and against PharmaStem, stating that PharmaStem had
failed to prove infringement of both patents. Consequently, we have not recorded a liability as of September 30, 2007.
PharmaStem appealed that decision, and we appealed the jury�s finding as to validity of the patents. On July 9, 2007,
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that we did not infringe the two PharmaStem patents at issue
and that the two patents are invalid. On July 23, 2007, PharmaStem filed a petition for a re-hearing of the case before
the full bench of the Court of Appeals. In September 2007, the Court of Appeals denied PharmaStem�s petition.
     In July 2004, PharmaStem filed a second complaint against us. The second complaint was filed in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Massachusetts, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents No. 6,461,645 (�645) and 6,569,427
(�427), which also relate to certain aspects of the collection, cryopreservation and storage of hematopoietic stem cells
and progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood. On January 7, 2005, PharmaStem filed a Motion for a Preliminary
Injunction, which is currently stayed. At the same time, PharmaStem brought suit against other defendants, including
other family cord blood banks, regarding the �645 and �427 patents. We filed a motion to consolidate the
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Massachusetts case with six other actions against other defendants in a single proceeding in the District of Delaware.
On February 16, 2005, our request was granted, and the cases were consolidated in the District of Delaware. We
believes that the issues presented in this case are substantially the same as the issues presented in the original
Delaware case. We also believes that we do not infringe the �645 and �427 patents asserted in this second case and that
those patents are invalid for the same reasons that the Court of Appeals found the �681 and �553 patents to be invalid.
     On October 6, 2005, the Delaware court granted our motion to stay all discovery in the consolidated cases pending
the decision from the Federal Circuit on the appeal of the District Court of Delaware�s ruling in the Delaware case and
from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (�U.S. PTO�) on the patent re-examinations described below. In June 2007,
we informed the Delaware Court of the status of the re-examinations. On July 10, 2007, we also informed the
Delaware court that the Federal Circuit had ruled in its favor. The Delaware Court has yet to take any action in
response to these notices.
     In late 2006, the U.S. PTO issued final decisions in the initial re-examination of the patents at issue in both cases.
The U.S. PTO subsequently issued notice of its intent to allow the remaining claims of all of the patents. In July 2007,
additional re-examination requests challenging each of the patents were filed with the U.S. PTO. The U.S. PTO has
granted all of the requests for re-examination and is currently in the process of re-examining each patent.
     In either of the pending cases, if we are ultimately found to infringe valid claims of the PharmaStem patents, we
could have a significant damages award entered against us. If we are found to infringe at any time during the course of
either case, including if the Supreme Court were to overturn both the non-infringement and invalidity rulings of the
Court of Appeals, we could also face the risk of an injunction, which could prohibit us from further engaging in the
umbilical cord stem cell business absent a license from PharmaStem. PharmaStem would be under no legal obligation
to grant us a license or to do so on economically reasonable terms, and PharmStem previously informed us that it
would not do so after October 15, 2004. Although we do not believe that the foregoing outcome is likely to occur, if
we are enjoined and are unable to obtain a license on economically reasonable terms or at all, and we cannot operate
under an equitable doctrine known as �intervening rights,� we could be required to stop preserving and storing cord
blood and to cease using cryopreserved umbilical cord blood as a source for stem cell products. We may enter into
settlement negotiations with PharmaStem regarding the litigation. We cannot predict whether any such negotiations
would lead to a settlement of these lawsuits or what the terms or timing of any such settlement might be, if at all.
      We have undertaken a review of our various job classifications for legal compliance under state and federal
employment laws. Based on that review, we have identified certain job classifications that may be subject to possible
challenge and for which there is a reasonable possibility that we could incur a liability, although we also believe that
the present classifications can be supported and defended. It is not possible based on the current available information
to reasonably estimate the scope of any potential liability.

Critical Accounting Estimates
     Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
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may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our critical accounting policies are as set
forth in our 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K include:

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. We have one stock-based employee compensation plan. On January 1,
2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R �Share-Based Payment� (SFAS 123R) using
the modified prospective method, which results in the provisions of SFAS 123R only being applied to the condensed
consolidated financial statements on a going-forward basis (that is, the prior period results have not been
restated).Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, stock-based compensation expense is measured
at the grant date based on the value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
Stock-based employee compensation expense was $0.6 million and $1.8 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2007, respectively. Previously, we had followed Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
�Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,� and related interpretations, which resulted in the accounting for employee
stock options at their intrinsic value in the condensed consolidated financial statements.
     We are required to make significant estimates under SFAS 123R. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate of stock-based compensation expense. Our expected stock-price volatility
assumption is based on both current implied volatility and historical volatilities of the underlying stock which is
obtained from public data sources. For stock options granted during the three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2007, we used a weighted-average expected stock-price volatility of 63.4% and 54.4%, respectively.
Higher estimated volatility increases the fair value of a stock option, and therefore increases the expense to be
recognized per stock option. We also determined the weighted-average option life assumption based on the exercise
behavior that different employee groups exhibited historically, adjusted for specific factors that may influence future
exercise patterns. For stock option grants made during the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2007,
we used a weighted-average expected option life assumption of 4.54 years. Longer expected term assumptions
increase the fair value of the stock option, and therefore increase the expense to be recognized per stock option.
     We recognized the full impact of our stock-based employee compensation plan in our condensed consolidated
statements of operations for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2007 under SFAS 123R and did
not capitalize any such costs on our condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
     In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 159, �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities � Including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115� (�SFAS 159�), which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value. SFAS 159 will be effective for the first fiscal year that begins after November 15,
2007. We have not yet completed our evaluation of the impact of adoption of SFAS 159 on our financial condition or
results of operations.
     In March 2007, FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (Task Force) 07-3 (EITF 07-3) �Accounting for
Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities�
which permits entities involved in research and development activities (R&D activities) to make advanced payments
for goods or services that will be used in future R&D activities. The issue is whether nonrefundable advance payments
for goods or services that will be used or rendered for R&D activities should be expensed when the advance payment
is made or when the research and development activity has been performed. EITF 07-3 will be effective for the first
fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2007. We have not yet completed our evaluation of the impact and adoption
of EITF 07-3 on our financial condition or results of operations.
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     On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, �Fair Value Measurements�, which addresses how companies
should measure fair value when they are required to do so for recognition or disclosure purposes. The standard
provides a common definition of fair value and is intended to make the measurement of fair value more consistent and
comparable as well as improving disclosures about those measures. The standard is effective for financial statements
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. This standard formalizes the measurement principles to be
utilized in determining fair value for purposes such as derivative valuation and impairment analysis. We are still
evaluating the implications of this standard, but do not currently expect it to have a significant impact on our financial
condition or results of operations.
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Investment Risk

     We own financial instruments that are sensitive to market risks as part of our investment portfolio. We use this
investment portfolio to preserve our capital until it is required to fund operations, including our research and
development activities. Our investment portfolio includes only marketable securities with active secondary or resale
markets to help ensure portfolio liquidity, and we have implemented guidelines limiting the duration of investments.
We invest in highly-rated commercial paper with maturities of less than two years and money market funds. None of
these market-risk sensitive instruments is held for trading purposes. We do not own derivative financial instruments in
our investment portfolio.
Foreign Exchange Risk

     Transactions by our German and Singapore subsidiaries are recorded in Euros and Singapore dollars, respectively.
Exchange gains or losses resulting from the translation of these subsidiaries� financial statements into U.S. dollars are
included as a separate component of stockholders� equity. We hold Euro-based currency accounts to mitigate foreign
currency transaction risk. Since the expenses of these subsidiaries are denominated in Euros and Singapore dollars, the
fluctuations of exchange rates may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Interest Rate Risk
     We invest our cash in a variety of financial instruments, principally securities issued by the U.S. government and
its agencies, investment grade corporate and money market instruments. These
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investments are denominated in U.S. dollars. These bonds are subject to interest rate risk, and could decline in value if
interest rates fluctuate. Due to the conservative nature of these instruments, we do not believe that we have a material
exposure to interest rate risk.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
     Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of September 30, 2007 and, based on their evaluation, our principal executive officer and our
principal financial officer have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective. Disclosure controls and
procedures are our controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission�s
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file under the Securities Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.      
     There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30,
2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial
reporting.

PART II � OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
     The section entitled �Litigation� in �Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements� in Part I of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated into this item by reference.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
     This report contains forward-looking statements, including statements about our proposed merger with
PerkinElmer, Inc., our current projections as to future financial performance, our expectations as to events and
potential results related to our research and development programs, and our views as to the possible outcome of
pending litigation related to our intellectual property portfolio and other disputes. We have based these
forward-looking statements on our current expectations about such future events. While we believe these expectations
are reasonable, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond
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our control. Our actual results may differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements for
various reasons, including those discussed in this �Risk Factors� section. Given these risks and uncertainties, you are
cautioned not to place substantial weight on forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements included in
this report are made only as of the date of this report. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any of
these statements.
We may be subject to a number of risks and uncertainties if the proposed merger with PerkinElmer fails to close.
     Our expectations with respect to the proposed merger transaction with PerkinElmer are subject to a number of risks
and uncertainties that could affect our results. For example, the merger may not close due to the failure of a sufficient
number of shares of our common stock to be tendered in the tender offer or the failure to satisfy other closing
conditions. The merger may involve unexpected costs. Our business may suffer as a result of uncertainty surrounding
the merger.
     Failure to complete the merger with PerkinElmer could negatively impact our stock price and future business and
operations. For example,
� if the merger agreement is terminated, we may be required in specific circumstances, to pay a termination fee

of up to $8.5 million to PerkinElmer,

� the price of our common stock may decline to the extent that the current market price reflects an assumption
that the merger will be completed, and

� we must pay our expenses related to the merger, including substantial legal and accounting fees, even if the
merger is not completed. This could affect our results of operations for the period during which the fees are
incurred.

     Current and prospective employees may experience uncertainty about their future role with us and PerkinElmer
until PerkinElmer�s strategies are announced or executed. This may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain key
management, research and development, sales and marketing and other personnel.
We may not achieve our goal of becoming cash flow positive and may never become profitable.
     We have generated operating losses since our inception. As of September 30, 2007, we had cumulative net losses
of approximately $208.5 million. These losses have resulted principally from the costs of our research and
development activities, which have totaled approximately $124.3 million since our inception. We expect that our
research and development expenses will continue to be significant over the next several years and that the costs related
to certain of the development programs are likely to increase, including increased costs and expenses associated with
our ViaCyte pivotal clinical trial and possible future clinical trials of other product candidates, such as our preclinical
product candidate being studied as a potential treatment for cardiac disease, if preclinical data supports moving
forward. Future research and development expenses may also include costs associated with product candidates that we
might license or acquire, and, if our programs are successful, costs and expenses associated with submissions for
regulatory approvals and the expansion of clinical and commercial scale manufacturing facilities. The amount of these
increases is difficult to predict and will depend on a number of factors, such as results of our clinical and
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preclinical programs, the design of future clinical trials, the results of our efforts to acquire or license new
technologies, and decisions made with respect to advancement of our clinical and preclinical programs. Furthermore,
our sales and marketing expenses have increased significantly in recent years and may increase in the future, if
deemed advisable to expand the market for our cord blood banking service offerings or to market new products or
service offerings that we may license or acquire. Our ability to become cash flow positive and to achieve profitability,
and the timing of such events, will depend on many factors, including some or all of the following:
� our ability to increase sales of our cord blood service offerings particularly in the face of significant

competition;

� continued acceptance in the marketplace for family cord blood banking and the overall growth of the family
cord blood banking category;

� the impact of any unexpected issues or failures related to the collection, processing or storage of umbilical cord
blood by us or others in the industry;

� the impact of any potential adverse outcome in the patent infringement lawsuits brought against us by
PharmaStem, including legal expenses, and the material impact on our business if PharmaStem were able to
obtain an injunction;

� the level of our expenses, including as a result of difficulties or delays related to our research and development
programs, and any unexpected expenses; and

� the overall net impact on revenues and expenses of new licensing deals, collaborations or other strategic
efforts.

     We cannot assure you that we will ever become cash flow positive or profitable. Other factors that may affect our
ability to become cash flow positive and profitable are described in more detail elsewhere in this �Risk Factors� section.
We may not be able to sustain our current level of revenues or our recent growth rates.
Revenues from sales of cord blood banking were $18.0 million in the first nine months of 2007 and have grown
significantly over the past several years, from $7.1 million in 2001, to $20.1 million, $30.9 million, $36.8 million,
$43.8 million and $54.1 million in 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. We believe that this revenue
growth is a result of our increased marketing efforts and increased awareness by the public generally of the concept of
umbilical cord blood preservation. We may not be able to sustain this growth rate or the current level of cord blood
banking revenues in the future. The principal factors that may adversely affect our revenues include competition from
other private cord blood banks, any decline in the market or market acceptance for cord blood banking, slower than
expected growth in the family cord blood banking category, the impact of negative recommendations or policy
statements about family banking from physician groups, such as the policy statement recommending public banking
over family banking issued by the American Academy of Pediatricians in January 2007, the risks associated with
litigation, in particular, the pending PharmaStem litigation, the risk of operational issues, the risks of not being able to
maintain relationships with key third party marketing partners or suppliers, and the risks of reputational damage.
These and other risks that may affect our future revenues are

30

Edgar Filing: VIACELL INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 34



Table of Contents

described in more detail elsewhere in this �Risk Factors� section. If we are unable to sustain our revenues, we may need
to reduce our research and development activities or raise additional funds earlier than anticipated or on unfavorable
terms, and our stock price may be adversely affected.
If we do not prevail in the PharmaStem litigation, we may be prevented from selling our cord blood banking service
offerings or may have to incur significant expenses.
In 2002, PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. filed suit against us and several other defendants in the U.S. District Court for
the District of Delaware, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents No. 5,004,681 (�681) and No. 5,192,553 (�553), relating
to certain aspects of the collection, cryopreservation and storage of hematopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells from
umbilical cord blood. In July 2007, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued a decision, described
below, confirming our belief that it does not infringe these patents and that the patents are invalid.
In 2003, a jury ruled against us and other defendants, CBR Systems Inc., CorCell, Inc., a subsidiary of Cord Blood
America Inc., and Cryo-Cell International Inc, who represent a majority of the family cord blood preservation
industry. The jury found that the patents were valid and enforceable and that the defendants infringed the patents. A
judgment was entered against us for approximately $2.9 million, based on 6.125% royalties on the Company�s revenue
from the processing and storage of umbilical cord blood since April 2000. In 2004, the District Court judge in the case
overturned the jury�s verdict and entered judgment in our favor and against PharmaStem, stating that PharmaStem had
failed to prove infringement of both patents. Consequently, we have not recorded a liability as of September 30, 2007.
PharmaStem appealed that decision, and we appealed the jury�s finding as to validity of the patents. On July 9, 2007,
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that we did not infringe the two PharmaStem patents at issue
and that the two patents are invalid. On July 23, 2007, PharmaStem filed a petition for a re-hearing of the case before
the full bench of the Court of Appeals. In September 2007, the Court of Appeals denied PharmaStem�s petition.
In July 2004, PharmaStem filed a second complaint against us. The second complaint was filed in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Massachusetts, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents No. 6,461,645 (�645) and 6,569,427
(�427), which also relate to certain aspects of the collection, cryopreservation and storage of hematopoietic stem cells
and progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood. On January 7, 2005, PharmaStem filed a Motion for a Preliminary
Injunction, which is currently stayed. At the same time, PharmaStem brought suit against other defendants, including
other family cord blood banks, regarding the �645 and �427 patents. We filed a motion to consolidate the Massachusetts
case with six other actions against other defendants in a single proceeding in the District of Delaware. On
February 16, 2005, our request was granted, and the cases were consolidated in the District of Delaware. We believe
that the issues presented in this case are substantially the same as the issues presented in the original Delaware case.
We also believe that it does not infringe the �645 and �427 patents asserted in this second case and that those patents are
invalid for the same reasons that the Court of Appeals found the �681 and �553 patents to be invalid.
On October 6, 2005, the Delaware court granted our motion to stay all discovery in the consolidated cases pending the
decision from the Federal Circuit on the appeal of the District Court of Delaware�s ruling in the Delaware case and
from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (�U.S. PTO�) on the patent re-examinations described below. In June 2007,
we informed the Delaware Court of the status of the re-examinations. On July 10, 2007, we also informed the
Delaware court that the Federal Circuit had ruled in our favor. The Delaware Court has yet to take any action in
response to these notices.
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     In late 2006, the U.S. PTO issued final decisions in the initial re-examination of the patents at issue in both cases.
The U.S. PTO subsequently issued notice of its intent to allow the remaining claims of all of the patents. In July 2007,
additional re-examination requests challenging each of the patents were filed with the U.S. PTO. The U.S. PTO has
granted all of the requests for re-examination and is currently in the process of re-examining each patent.
In either of the pending cases, if we are is ultimately found to infringe valid claims of the PharmaStem patents, we
could have a significant damages award entered against it. If we are found to infringe at any time during the course of
either case, including if the Supreme Court were to overturn both the non-infringement and invalidity rulings of the
Court of Appeals, we could also face the risk of an injunction, which could prohibit us from further engaging in the
umbilical cord stem cell business absent a license from PharmaStem. PharmaStem would be under no legal obligation
to grant us a license or to do so on economically reasonable terms, and PharmStem previously informed us that it
would not do so after October 15, 2004. Although we do not believe that the foregoing outcome is likely to occur, if
we are enjoined and is unable to obtain a license on economically reasonable terms or at all, and we cannot operate
under an equitable doctrine known as �intervening rights,� we could be required to stop preserving and storing cord
blood and to cease using cryopreserved umbilical cord blood as a source for stem cell products. We may enter into
settlement negotiations with PharmaStem regarding the litigation. We cannot predict whether any such negotiations
would lead to a settlement of these lawsuits or what the terms or timing of any such settlement might be, if at all.
A third party may again seek to challenge the arbitrator�s decision related to our agreement with Mothers Work.
     We have an agreement with Mothers Work related to the marketing of our cord blood banking service offerings.
The agreement can be terminated early by either company if the other company commits a material breach of the
agreement or under certain circumstances arising from claims by a third party alleging that the third party has rights
that supersede Mothers Work�s commitment to us. A third party has claimed that it has rights under an agreement with
Mothers Work that supersede Mothers Work�s commitment to us. The dispute between Mothers Work and the third
party was the subject of an arbitration proceeding. In February 2007, the arbitrator ruled in favor of Mothers Work and
subsequently denied a challenge to his ruling by the third party. While there is no assurance that the third party will
not again challenge the ruling, we believe that reversal of the ruling is unlikely. If the third party were to be successful
in its efforts to overturn the arbitrator�s decision, the termination rights under our agreement with Mothers Work could
be triggered. In addition, as a condition to commencing the agreement on January 1, 2007, we agreed to indemnify
Mothers Work for any damages that Mothers Work may be assessed in the event that Mothers Work is found to be in
breach of its agreement with the third party as a result of having entered into an agreement with us. We also agreed to
reimburse Mothers Work for certain legal fees if the fees exceed a specified threshold. Our potential obligation to
Mothers Work under the indemnification agreement is unlimited. However, based on our assessment of the low
likelihood that we might have to pay damages or legal fees given the arbitrator�s ruling, we concluded the fair value of
our indemnification obligation is not material and have not recorded a liability as of September 30, 2007. Although we
think it is unlikely, termination of our agreement with Mothers Work would impact our cord blood banking revenues
and could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations. The termination of the Mothers Work
agreement could also lead to us having to indemnify Mothers Work for any damages that it would owe to the third
party, which could be significant and therefore have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.
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If we are not able to successfully develop and commercialize new products, our future prospects may be limited.
     Drug and device development in general involves a high degree of risk. As we obtain results and safety
information from preclinical or clinical trials of our product candidates, including ViaCyte and our preclinical
program evaluating our proprietary cord blood-derived multi-potent stem cells as a potential treatment for cardiac
disease, we may elect to discontinue development or delay additional preclinical studies or clinical trials in order to
focus our resources on more promising product candidates. We may also change the indication being pursued for a
particular product candidate or otherwise revise the development plan for that candidate. Moreover, product
candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite having
progressed through earlier clinical testing.
     The process of obtaining regulatory approval is lengthy, expensive and uncertain, and we may never gain necessary
approvals. Any difficulties that we encounter in developing our product candidates and in obtaining regulatory
approval may have a substantial adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cause our stock
price to decline significantly. If we are not able to successfully develop our product candidates and obtain regulatory
approval, we will not be able to commercialize such products, and therefore may not be able to generate sufficient
revenues to support our business.
     Our cellular therapy product candidates, including the proprietary stem cells that we are studying in preclinical
trials as a potential treatment for cardiac disease, are in the early stages of development. Very few companies have
been successful in their efforts to develop and commercialize a stem cell product. Stem cell products in general may
be susceptible to various risks, including undesirable and unintended side effects, unintended immune system
responses, inadequate therapeutic efficacy or other characteristics that may prevent or limit their approval or
commercial use.
     The industry and the FDA have relatively little experience with developing therapeutics based on cellular medicine
generally. As a result, the pathway to regulatory approval for our stem cell-based product candidates may be more
complex and lengthy than the pathway for approval of a new drug or biologic. Similarly, to obtain approval to market
our stem cell products outside of the U.S., we will need to submit clinical data concerning our products and receive
regulatory approval from the appropriate governmental agencies. Standards for approval outside the U.S. may differ
from those required by the FDA. We may encounter delays or rejections if changes occur in regulatory agency
policies during the period in which we develop a product candidate or during the period required for review of any
application for regulatory agency approval.
     Our cellular therapy product candidates will not be commercially available for at least several years, if at all. We
will need to devote significant additional research and development, financial resources and personnel to develop
commercially viable products and obtain regulatory approvals.
We may not be able to successfully develop our ViaCyte oocyte cryopreservation product candidate.
     We are currently conducting a single, pivotal clinical trial to study the safety and efficacy of ViaCyte. The goal of
the clinical trial is to generate data to submit to the FDA for a 510(k) application. In March 2007, we initiated a
pivotal clinical trial of ViaCyte after satisfying the conditions imposed on us by the FDA in its June 2006 conditional
approval of our Investigational Device Exemption, or IDE, for ViaCyte. In June 2007, after previously disapproving a
supplement to the IDE which was necessary to change our contract manufacturer for the ViaCyte media, the FDA
approved the IDE supplement. The
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clinical trial sites have been working to enroll subjects in the trial since the IDE supplement was approved. There is no
assurance that we will be able to complete the clinical trial or that we will be able to show that our ViaCyte
cryopreservation product candidate is safe and effective for its intended use. While methods for preserving sperm and
embryos are well-established and have been utilized for in vitro fertilization procedures, methods for cryopreserving
oocytes have not been widely employed due to difficulties encountered in freezing this cell. We may not be able to
generate the number of live births needed to show that ViaCyte is effective. We may also encounter unexpected
safety, regulatory or manufacturing issues. Even if the results of the trial are favorable, there is no assurance that the
FDA will agree that we have met the standards for 510(k) clearance. The FDA could at any time determine that some
or all of the components used to cryopreserve the oocytes will require pre-market approval, or PMA, and additional
trials, which would involve additional time and expense. Even if approved, there is no assurance that ViaCyte will
achieve commercial success or be able to successfully compete with other oocyte cryopreservation and IVF products.
In addition, the FDA could ask for post-approval safety monitoring, which would entail additional expense, and/or
restrict the label for ViaCyte to limited patient populations, which could limit its commercial potential.
We may not be able to raise additional funds necessary to fund our operations.
     As of September 30, 2007, we had approximately $43.3 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments. In order to develop and bring new products to market, we must commit substantial resources to costly
and time-consuming research and development, preclinical testing and clinical trials. While we anticipate that our
existing cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to fund our current operations for the next three
years, we may need or want to raise additional funding sooner, particularly if our business or operations change in a
manner that consumes available resources more rapidly than we anticipate. We expect to attempt to raise additional
funds well in advance of completely depleting our available funds.
     Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
� the level of cash flows from sales of our cord blood banking service offerings;

� the costs of increasing or expanding our cord blood banking sales and marketing efforts;

� the scope and results of our research and development programs;

� the clinical pathway for each of our product candidates, including the number, size, scope and cost of clinical
trials required to establish safety and efficacy;

� the results of litigation, other disputes and any liability that results from our identification of certain job
classifications that may be subject to possible challenge;

� the costs associated with expanding our portfolio of product candidates through licensing, collaborations or
acquisitions;

� the costs of research and development work focused on developing clinical and commercial scale processes for
manufacturing cellular products and, if we advance our products, the costs of building and operating our
manufacturing facilities, both to support our clinical activities and also in anticipation of growing our
commercialization activities;

� funds spent in connection with acquisitions of related technologies or businesses, including contingent
payments that may be made in connection with our acquisition of Kourion Therapeutics;
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� the costs of maintaining, expanding and protecting our intellectual property portfolio, including litigation costs
and liabilities; and

� our ability to establish and maintain collaborative arrangements and obtain milestones, royalties and other
payments from collaborators.

     We may seek additional funding through collaborative arrangements and public or private financings. Additional
funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we obtain additional capital through collaborative
arrangements, these arrangements may require us to relinquish greater rights to our technologies or product candidates
than we might otherwise have done. If we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, or securities convertible
into equity, further dilution to our then existing stockholders will result. If we raise additional capital through the
incurrence of debt, our business may be affected by the amount of leverage we incur. For instance, such borrowings
could subject us to covenants restricting our business activities, servicing interest would divert funds that would
otherwise be available to support research and development, clinical or commercialization activities, and holders of
debt instruments would have rights and privileges senior to those of our equity investors. If we are unable to obtain
adequate financing on a timely basis, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our
research and development programs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We depend on patents and other proprietary rights that may fail to protect our business.
     Our success depends, in large part, on our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our
product candidates, technologies and trade secrets. We own or have exclusive licenses to U.S. patents and
international patents. We also own or have exclusive licenses to pending applications in the U.S. and pending
applications in foreign countries. Our pending patent applications may not issue, and we may not receive any
additional patents. The patent position of biotechnology companies is generally highly uncertain, involves complex
legal and factual questions and has been the subject of much litigation. Neither the U.S. PTO nor the courts have a
consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed or the degree of protection afforded under many
biotechnology patents. The claims of our existing U.S. patents and those that may issue in the future, or those licensed
to us, may not offer significant protection of our technologies. For example, our patent applications covering
Unrestricted Somatic Stem Cells, or USSCs, claim these cells and/or their use in the treatment of many diseases. It is
possible, however, that these cells could be covered by other patents or patent applications which identify, isolate or
use the same cells by other markers, although we are not aware of any. Third parties may challenge, narrow, invalidate
or circumvent any patents we obtain based on our applications. Interference proceedings brought by the U.S. PTO
may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to our patent applications or those of our
collaborators or licensors. Litigation or interference proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in
substantial costs and distraction to our management.
     Competitors may infringe our patents or the patents of our collaborators or licensors. Although we have not needed
to take such action to date, we may be required to file infringement claims to counter infringement or unauthorized
use. This can be expensive, particularly for a company of our size, and time-consuming. In addition, in an
infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the
other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover its technology. An adverse
determination of any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated
or interpreted
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narrowly and could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount
of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, during the course of this
kind of litigation, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments. If investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse
effect on the price of our common stock.
     Furthermore, our competitors may independently develop similar technologies or duplicate any technology
developed by us in a manner that does not infringe our patents or other intellectual property. Because of the extensive
time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that, before any of
our products can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period
following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantages of the patent. Without patent protection, those
products might have to compete with identical products.
     In an effort to protect our unpatented proprietary technology, processes and know-how as trade secrets, we require
our employees, consultants, collaborators and advisors to execute confidentiality agreements. These agreements,
however, may not provide us with adequate protection against improper use or disclosure of confidential information.
These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. In addition, in some
situations, these agreements may conflict with, or be subject to, the rights of third parties with whom our employees,
consultants, collaborators or advisors have previous employment or consulting relationships. Others may
independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our
trade secrets. We may not be able, alone or with our collaborators and licensors, to prevent misappropriation of our
proprietary rights, particularly in countries where the laws may not protect such rights as fully as in the U.S.
Third parties may own or control patents or patent applications that are infringed by our technologies or product
candidates.
     Our success depends in part on our not infringing other parties� patents and proprietary rights as well as not
breaching any licenses relating to our technologies and product candidates. In the U.S., patent applications filed in
recent years are confidential for 18 months, while older applications are not published until the patent issues. As a
result, there may be patent applications of which we are unaware that will result in issued patents in our field, and
avoiding patent infringement may be difficult. We may inadvertently infringe third party patents or patent
applications. These third parties could bring claims against us, our collaborators or our licensors that, even if resolved
in our favor, could cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if resolved against us, could additionally cause us to pay
substantial damages.
     We may be required to pay substantial damages to a patent holder in an infringement case in the event of a finding
of infringement. Under some circumstances in the U.S., these damages could be triple the actual damages the patent
holder incurred, and we could be ordered to pay the costs and attorneys� fees incurred by the patent holder. If we have
supplied infringing products to third parties for marketing, or licensed third parties to manufacture, use or market
infringing products, we may be obligated to indemnify these third parties for any damages they may be required to
pay to the patent holder and for any losses the third parties may sustain themselves as the result of lost sales or
damages paid to the patent holder. Further, if patent infringement suits are brought against us, our collaborators or our
licensors, we
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or they could be forced to stop or delay research, development, manufacturing or sales of any infringing product in the
country or countries covered by the patent we infringe, unless we can obtain a license from the patent holder. Such a
license may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, particularly if the third party is developing or marketing a
product competitive with the infringing product. Even if we, our collaborators or our licensors were able to obtain a
license, the rights may be nonexclusive, which would give our competitors access to the same intellectual property. In
addition, payments under such licenses would reduce the earnings otherwise attributable to the specific products.
     Patent infringement cases often involve substantial legal expenses. For example, we are involved in two patent
infringement lawsuits filed against us by PharmaStem. As of September 30, 2007, we have incurred total legal
expenses of approximately $7.5 million related to these cases. Depending upon the results of any attempt by
PharmaStem to appeal the July 2007 decision of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in the first lawsuit
to the U.S. Supreme Court, and the extent to which we are required to litigate the second lawsuit brought by
PharmaStem and any related appeals, we estimate that we could incur at least an additional $1.0 million to
$5.0 million in litigation expenses.
     Any successful infringement action brought against us may also adversely affect our ability to market the
infringing product in other markets not covered by the infringement action, as well as our marketing of other products
by us based on similar technology and may also delay the regulatory approval process for future product candidates.
Furthermore, we may suffer adverse consequences from a successful infringement action against us even if the action
is subsequently reversed on appeal, nullified through another action or resolved by settlement with the patent holder.
The damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may be significant. As a result, any infringement action against us
may harm our competitive position, be very costly and require significant time and attention of our key management
and technical personnel.
Our success will depend in part on establishing and maintaining effective strategic partnerships and
collaborations.
     A key aspect of our business strategy is to establish strategic relationships in order to gain access to technology and
critical raw materials, to expand or complement our research, development or commercialization capabilities, or to
reduce the cost of developing or commercializing products on our own. While we are continually in discussions with a
number of companies, universities, research institutions, cord blood banks and others to establish additional
relationships and collaborations, we may not reach definitive agreements with any of them. Even if we enter into these
arrangements, we may not be able to maintain these relationships or establish new ones in the future on acceptable
terms. Furthermore, these arrangements may require us to grant certain rights to third parties, including exclusive
marketing rights to one or more products, or may have other terms that are burdensome to us, and may involve the
acquisition of our securities. Our partners may decide to develop alternative technologies either on their own or in
collaboration with others or commercialize or market competitive products in collaboration with others. If any of our
partners terminate their relationship with us or fail to perform their obligations in a timely manner, the development or
commercialization of our technology, potential products or existing products may be substantially delayed or
adversely impacted.
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Our cell preservation activities are subject to regulations that may impose significant costs and restrictions on us.
Cord blood preservation. The FDA has adopted good tissue practice regulations, or GTPs, that establish a
comprehensive regulatory program for human cellular and tissue-based products. Our cord blood service offerings are
subject to GTPs. We have registered with the FDA as an umbilical cord blood preservation service and we are subject
to FDA inspection. We believe that we comply with GTPs, though we have not yet been inspected by the FDA.
However, we may not be able to maintain this compliance or comply with future regulatory requirements that may be
imposed on us, including product standards that may be developed. GTPs do not mandate licensing of minimally
manipulated homologous, cryopreserved hematopoietic stem cells for autologous or related use. As a result, the
collected cells, while regulated, do not need to be licensed or cleared by the FDA. The FDA could, however, in the
future require us to file an Investigational New Drug or Biologics License Applications, or BLAs or could impose
other regulatory requirements applicable to the collection and storage of cord blood. For example, the collection,
processing and storage of umbilical cord blood stem cells intended to be used in a recipient unrelated to the donor is
regulated by the FDA as a biological product. In January 2007, the FDA published a draft guidance document for
comment that would require public cord blood banks to file BLAs. While the draft guidance does not currently apply
to us, the FDA could decide to impose these requirements on us or others in our business. Compliance with the
requirements set forth in the January 2007 guidance or other requirements that may be imposed by the FDA on our
cord blood service offerings in the future will likely require us to change our processes and might involve the
submission of a substantial volume of data along with a lengthy substantive review. The FDA could require us to
cease distribution of the collection kits and obtain 510(k) clearance or PMA prior to further distribution of the kits,
which would likely have a material adverse effect on our revenues and profitability. In any event, the costs of process
changes and the costs of compliance with any new requirements that may be imposed in the future could adversely
affect our revenues and profitability. Regulation of our cord blood preservation services in foreign jurisdictions is still
evolving.
          We provide cord blood banking services in all 50 states. Several states require that cord blood services be
licensed, permitted or registered. We believe that we are licensed, permitted or registered to operate in all of such
states. If other states adopt similar requirements, we would have to obtain licenses, permits or registrations to continue
providing services in those states.

Oocyte cryopreservation. Cryopreserved oocytes are tissues subject to regulation under FDA�s GTP requirements.
There are, however, no FDA-approved/cleared cryopreservation products specifically intended for use with oocytes.
The FDA has informed us that it will require a clinical study to support approval of the technology used in oocyte
cryopreservation. We are currently conducting a single, pivotal clinical trial to study the safety and efficacy of
ViaCyte. In March 2007, we initiated the trial after satisfying the conditions imposed on us by the FDA in its
June 2006 conditional approval of our Investigational Device Exemption, or IDE, for ViaCyte. In June 2007, after
previously disapproving a supplement to the IDE which was necessary to change our contract manufacturer for the
ViaCyte media, the FDA approved the IDE supplement. The clinical trial sites have been working to enroll subjects in
the trial since the IDE supplement was approved. The goal of the clinical trial is to generate data to submit to the FDA
for a 510(k) application. There is no assurance that we will be able to complete the clinical trial or that we will be able
to show that our ViaCyte cryopreservation product candidate is safe and effective for its intended use. We may also
encounter unexpected safety, regulatory or manufacturing issues, any of which could delay or cause us to stop the
trial. If we submit a new 510(k) and the FDA does not find the information adequate to support 510(k) clearance, the
FDA could require us to obtain PMA to market ViaCyte. This requirement could substantially lengthen our planned
developmental timeline and increase the costs of developing and commercializing ViaCyte. We may not receive either
510(k) clearance or PMA for ViaCyte. We have not investigated the regulations for the cryopreservation of oocytes in
foreign jurisdictions. We may not be able to generate sufficient data to receive approval to market ViaCyte in the U.S.
or any other jurisdictions.
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We have only limited experience manufacturing cell therapy product candidates, and we may not be able to
manufacture our product candidates in quantities sufficient for clinical studies or for commercial scale.
     We currently produce limited quantities of stem cells using our technologies. We have not built commercial scale
manufacturing facilities, and have no experience in manufacturing cellular products in the volumes that will be
required for later stage clinical studies or commercialization. If we obtain marketing approval for any cell therapy
products, we may not be able to produce sufficient quantities of our products at an acceptable cost. Commercial-scale
production of therapies made from live human cells involves production in small batches and management of complex
logistics. Cellular therapies are inherently more difficult to manufacture at commercial-scale than chemical
pharmaceuticals, which are manufactured using standardized production technologies and operational methods. We
may encounter difficulties in production due to, among other things, quality control, quality assurance and component
supply. These difficulties could reduce sales of our products, increase our cost or cause production delays, all of which
could damage our reputation and impair our profitability.
We are dependent upon third parties to supply us with certain components of our cell therapy product candidates,
the loss of which may delay development of our product candidates.
     In order to produce cells for use in clinical studies and produce stem cell products for commercial sale, certain
biological components used in our production process will need to be manufactured in compliance with current good
manufacturing practices, or cGMP. To meet this requirement, we will need to maintain supply agreements with third
parties who manufacture these components to cGMP standards. Once we engage these third parties, we may be
dependent on them for supply of cGMP grade components. If we are unable to obtain cGMP grade biological
components for our product candidates, we may not be able to develop or market our stem cell product candidates.
     Certain antibodies, growth factors and other reagents are critical components used in our stem cell production
process. We depend on our suppliers to perform their obligations in a timely manner and in accordance with
applicable government regulations. In the event that any of these suppliers becomes unwilling or unable to continue to
supply necessary components for the manufacture of our stem cell products, we may need to repeat certain preclinical
development work to identify and demonstrate the equivalence of alternative components purchased from other
suppliers. If we are unable to demonstrate the equivalence of alternative components in a timely manner, or purchase
these alternative components on commercially reasonable terms, we may not be able to advance the development of
our preclinical stem cell product candidates.
Our inability to have ViaCyte consistently manufactured to specifications or the loss of our contract manufacturer
may delay development of our ViaCyte product candidate.
     We are utilizing Invitrogen Corporation to manufacture, supply and package our ViaCyte product candidate for our
clinical trial. We are dependent on Invitrogen and our relationships with component and testing service providers to
satisfy all regulatory requirements and produce sufficient amounts of cGMP-quality product on commercially
reasonable terms for the trial. Manufacturing our ViaCyte product candidate is complex. Due to its complexity,
Invitrogen may be unable to consistently manufacture ViaCyte to specifications. Invitrogen has the ability to terminate
its obligation to manufacture clinical supplies of ViaCyte under certain conditions including if it is unable for reasons
outside of its control to consistently meet specifications or if there is a change in specifications it cannot meet or an
uncured material breach by us. If ViaCyte is successfully developed, we will need to establish similar relationships
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with third party contract manufacturers for our commercial supply. In the event that we are unable to maintain a
suitable contract manufacturer that is willing to produce the ViaCyte media on commercially reasonable terms or the
contract manufacturer terminates or breaches its relationship with us or we encounter unexpected technical or
manufacturing hurdles or delays, we may not be able to complete our clinical trial or, if successfully developed, to
commercialize our ViaCyte product candidate.
We are dependent on our existing suppliers to successfully commercialize our cord blood service offerings. The loss
of such suppliers may inhibit our ability to commercialize our cord blood service offerings.
     We source a substantial portion of the components of our ViaCord collection kits and processing and testing
services from a concentrated group of third party contractors. The production of the collection kits and the processing
and testing of cord blood units require successful coordination among ourselves and multiple third party providers.
Our inability to coordinate these efforts or any other problems with the operations of our third party contractors could
increase our costs, cause us to lose revenue or market share, and damage our reputation. Some of the components of
our ViaCord collection kits, including the Cell Sentinel collection bag used in our ViaCord collection kit, are
produced by single source providers. For other components, we make every effort to qualify new vendors and to
develop contingency plans so that our ViaCord business is not impacted by short-term issues associated with single
source providers. Our business could be materially impacted by long-term or chronic issues associated with single
source providers or other vendors.
If our cord blood processing and storage facility or our clinical manufacturing facilities are damaged or destroyed,
our business, programs and prospects could be negatively affected.
     We process and store our customers� umbilical cord blood at our facility in Hebron, Kentucky. If this facility or the
equipment in the facility were to be significantly damaged or destroyed, we could suffer a loss of some or all of the
stored cord blood units. In addition, from time to time, we transport cord blood units from other storage facilities to
our facility in Hebron, Kentucky. If we encounter problems during transportation, some or all of the transported units
could be damaged. Depending on the extent of these losses, such an event could reduce our ability to provide cord
blood stem cells when requested, expose us to significant liability from cord blood banking customers and affect our
ability to continue to provide umbilical cord blood preservation services.
     We expect to manufacture all of our stem cell product candidates in our Cambridge manufacturing facility for the
next several years. If the Cambridge facility or the equipment in it is significantly damaged or destroyed, we may not
be able to quickly or inexpensively replace our manufacturing capacity.
In the event of a temporary or protracted loss of this facility or equipment, we may be able to transfer manufacturing
to a third party, but the shift would likely be expensive, and the timing would depend on availability of third party
resources and the speed with which we could have a new facility approved by the FDA.
     While we believe that we have insured against potential losses from damage to or destruction of our facilities, and
against potential damage to cord blood units being transported to our facility, consistent with typical industry
practices, if we have underestimated our insurance needs, we will not have sufficient insurance to cover losses above
and beyond the limits on our policies. Currently, we maintain insurance coverage totaling $22.2 million against
damage to our property and equipment, and an additional $18.8 million to cover incremental expenses and loss of
profits resulting from such damage. These policies require periodic renewal and are subject to various industry-related
terms and conditions. Failure or inability to renew these insurance policies or failure of the terms and conditions of
these policies to apply to potential losses could further expose us to risk of losses.
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Our competitors may have greater resources or capabilities or better technologies than we have, or may succeed in
developing better products or develop products more quickly than we do, and we may not be successful in
competing with them.
     The pharmaceutical and biotechnology businesses are highly competitive. We compete with many organizations
that are developing cell therapies for the treatment of a variety of human diseases, including companies such as
Aastrom Biosciences, Inc., Cellerant Therapeutics, Inc., Celgene Corporation, Cytori Therapeutics, Inc., Gamida-Cell
Ltd., Genzyme Corporation, Bioheart, Inc., and Osiris Therapeutics, Inc. We also face competition in the cell therapy
field from academic institutions and governmental agencies. We are also aware that some larger pharmaceutical and
biopharmaceutical companies have programs in the cell therapy area. Some of these competitors and future
competitors may have similar or better product candidates or technologies, greater financial and human resources than
we have, including more experience in research and development and more established sales, marketing and
distribution capabilities. In addition, public cord blood banks may, as a result of the Stem Cell Therapeutic and
Research Act of 2005, or the Stem Cell Therapeutic Act, be able to better compete with our potential cell therapy
products. An increase in the number and diversity of publicly-available cord blood units from public banks could
diminish the necessity for cord blood-derived therapeutics.
     The umbilical cord blood banking portion of the cell therapies business is also highly competitive. In private
umbilical cord blood banking, we compete with companies such as Cbr Systems, Inc., Cryo-Cell International, Inc.,
CorCell, Inc., a subsidiary of Cord Blood America Inc., and LifeBank USA, a division of Celgene Cellular
Therapeutics, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Celgene Corporation. Any of these companies may choose to invest more
in sales, marketing, research and product development than we have. In cord blood banking, we also compete with
public cord blood banks such as the New York Blood Center (National Cord Blood Program), University of Colorado
Cord Blood Bank, Milan Cord Blood Bank, Düsseldorf Cord Blood Bank, and other public cord blood banks around
the world. Public cord blood banks provide families with the option of donating their cord blood for public use at no
cost. The Stem Cell Therapeutic Act provides financing for a national system of public cord blood banks in the U.S. to
encourage cord blood donations from an ethnically diverse population.
     In addition, many states are evaluating the feasibility of establishing cord blood repositories for transplantation
purposes. An increase in the number and diversity of publicly-available cord blood units from public banks would
increase the probability of finding suitably matched cells for a family member, which may result in a decrease in the
demand for private cord blood banking. If the science of human leukocyte antigens, or HLA, typing advances, then
unrelated cord blood transplantation may become safer and more efficacious, similarly reducing the clinical advantage
of related cord blood transplantation.
     In oocyte cryopreservation, if our ViaCyte product candidate is successfully developed and approved, we expect to
compete with IVF centers and individual companies offering oocyte cryopreservation, including Extend Fertility.
Current and future competitors in this field may also have greater financial and human resources than we have, and
may have similar or better product candidates or technologies, or product candidates which are brought to the market
more quickly than ours. Specifically, several IVF centers are already performing oocyte cryopreservation on a limited
basis and Extend Fertility is offering related services, which may make it more difficult for ViaCyte, if successfully
developed and approved, to achieve a significant market share.
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          We anticipate this competition to increase in the future as new companies enter the stem cell therapy, cord
blood preservation and oocyte cryopreservation markets. In addition, the health care industry is characterized by rapid
technological change. New product introductions or other technological advancements could make some or all of our
product candidates obsolete.
Due to the nature of our cell preservation activities, harm to our reputation could have a significant negative
impact on our financial condition. Damage to or loss of our customers� property held in our custody could
potentially result in significant legal liability.
          Our reputation among clients and the medical and birthing services community is extremely important to the
commercial success of our cord blood banking service offerings. This is due in significant part to the nature of the
service we provide. For instance, as part of our cord blood service offerings, we are assuming custodial care of a
child�s umbilical cord blood stem cells entrusted to us by the parents for potential future use as a therapeutic for the
child or its siblings. We believe that our reputation enables us to market ourselves as a premium provider of cord
blood preservation among our competitors. While we seek to maintain high standards in all aspects of our provision of
products and services, we cannot guarantee that we will not experience problems. Like family cord blood banks
generally, we face the risk that a customer�s cord blood unit could be lost or damaged while in transit from the
collection site to our storage facility, including while the unit is in the possession of third party commercial carriers
used to transport the units. There is also risk of loss or damage to the unit during the preservation or storage process.
Any such problems, particularly if publicized in the media or otherwise, could negatively impact our reputation, which
could adversely affect our business and business prospects.
          In addition to reputational damage, we face the risk of legal liability for loss of or damage to cord blood units.
We do not own the cord blood units banked by our cord blood banking customers; instead, we act as custodian on
behalf of the child-donor�s guardian. Loss or damage to the units would be loss or damage to the customer�s property.
We cannot be sure to what extent we could be found liable, in any given scenario, for damages suffered by an owner
or donor as a result of harm or loss of a cord blood unit, and if we are found liable, whether our insurance coverage
will be sufficient to cover such damages.
The manufacture and sale of products may expose us to product liability claims for which we could have
substantial liability.
          We face an inherent business risk of exposure to product liability claims if our products or product candidates
are alleged or found to have caused injury. While we believe that our current liability insurance coverage is adequate
for our present clinical and commercial activities, we will need to increase our insurance coverage if and when we
begin commercializing additional products. We may not be able to obtain insurance with adequate coverage for
potential liability arising from any such potential products on acceptable terms or may be excluded from coverage
under the terms of any insurance policy that we obtain. We may not be able to maintain insurance on acceptable terms
or at all. If we are unable to obtain insurance or any claims against us substantially exceed our coverage, then our
business could be adversely impacted.
Our success is dependent upon recruiting and retaining qualified management and other personnel.

           Our success is highly dependent on the retention of the principal members of our scientific, management and
commercial personnel. Marc D. Beer, our President and Chief Executive Officer, is critical to our ability to execute
our overall business strategy. Morey Kraus, our Chief Technology Officer and co-founder, has significant and unique
expertise in stem cell expansion and related technologies. We
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maintain key man life insurance on the lives of Mr. Beer and Mr. Kraus. Additionally, we have several other
employees with scientific, business or other skills that we consider important to the successful commercialization of
our products and development of our technology. Any of our key employees could terminate his or her relationship
with us at any time and, despite any non-competition agreement with us, work for one of our competitors.
Furthermore, our future growth will require hiring a significant number of qualified technical, commercial and
administrative personnel. Accordingly, recruiting and retaining such personnel in the future will be critical to our
success.
          There is intense competition from other companies, universities and other research institutions for qualified
personnel in the areas of our activities. If we are not able to continue to attract and retain, on acceptable terms, the
qualified personnel necessary for the continued development of our business, we may not be able to sustain our
operations or achieve our business objectives.
We may face difficulties in managing and maintaining the growth of our business.

          We expect to continue expanding our reproductive health business and our research and development activities.
This expansion could put significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources. To manage future
growth, we would need to hire, train and manage additional employees.
          Our reporting obligations as a public company, as well as our need to comply with the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the NASDAQ
Global Market, place significant demands on our finance and accounting staff, on our financial, accounting and
information systems and on our internal controls. We cannot assure you that our current and planned personnel,
systems procedures and controls will be adequate to support our anticipated growth or that management will be able to
hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required personnel.
          Our failure to manage growth effectively could limit our ability to achieve our research and development and
commercialization goals or to satisfy our reporting and other obligations as a public company.
Our business could be disrupted or harmed and we could be subject to liability if we are unable to operate our
information systems effectively, successfully implement new technologies and protect the confidentiality of our or
our customers� data.
          The efficient operation of our business is dependent on our information systems, including our ability to operate
them effectively and to successfully implement new technologies, systems, controls and adequate disaster recovery
systems. In addition, we must protect the confidentiality of our and our customers� data, including credit card
information. The failure of our information systems to perform as designed or our failure to implement and operate
them effectively could disrupt our business, harm our reputation and/or subject us to liability, any of which could
impact our financial condition and results of operations.
If we acquire other businesses or technologies the transactions may be dilutive and we may be unable to integrate
them successfully with our business, our financial performance could suffer.
          If we are presented with appropriate opportunities, we may acquire other businesses. We have had limited
experience in acquiring and integrating other businesses. Since our incorporation in 1994, we have acquired three
businesses: Viacord, Inc. in 2000, Cerebrotec, Inc. in 2001 and Kourion Therapeutics
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AG in 2003. The integration process following any future acquisitions may produce unforeseen operating difficulties
and expenditures and may absorb significant management attention that would otherwise be available for the ongoing
development of our business. In any future acquisitions, we may issue shares of stock dilutive to existing
stockholders, incur debt, assume contingent liabilities, or create additional expenses related to amortizing intangible
assets, any of which might harm our financial results and cause our stock price to decline. Any financing we might
need for future acquisitions may be available to us only on terms that restrict our business or impose costs that
increase our net loss.
The successful commercialization of products may depend on patients and physicians obtaining reimbursement for
products from third party payers.
          If we successfully develop and obtain necessary regulatory approvals for any of our therapeutic product
candidates, we intend to sell such products initially in the U.S. and, potentially, outside the U.S. In the U.S., the
market for many pharmaceutical products is affected by the availability of reimbursement from third party payers such
as government health administration authorities, private health insurers, health maintenance organizations and
pharmacy benefit management companies. Our potential cellular therapy products may be relatively expensive
treatments due to the higher cost of production and more complex logistics of cellular products compared with
standard pharmaceuticals. This, in turn, may make it more difficult for patients and physicians to obtain adequate
reimbursement from third party payers, particularly if we cannot demonstrate a favorable cost-benefit relationship.
Third-party payers may also deny coverage or offer inadequate levels of reimbursement for our potential products if
they determine that the product has not received appropriate clearances from the FDA or other government regulators
or is experimental, unnecessary or inappropriate. In the countries of the European Union and in some other countries,
the pricing of prescription pharmaceutical products and services and the level of government reimbursement are
subject to governmental control.
          Managing and reducing health care costs has been a concern generally of federal and state governments in the
U.S. and of foreign governments. Although we do not believe that any recently enacted or presently proposed
legislation should impact our business, we cannot be sure that we will not be subject to future regulations that may
materially restrict the price we receive for our products. Cost control initiatives could decrease the price that we
receive for any product we may develop in the future. In addition, third party payers are increasingly challenging the
price and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services, and any of our potential products may ultimately not be
considered cost-effective by these payers. Any of these initiatives or developments could materially harm our
business. If our potential cell therapy products are not reimbursed by government or third party insurers, the market
for those products would be limited. We cannot be sure that third party payers will reimburse sales of a product or
enable us or our partners to sell the product at prices that will provide a sustainable and profitable revenue stream.
          Although we are aware of a small fraction of cord blood banking customers receiving reimbursement, we
believe our cord blood service offerings, like other private cord blood banking services, is not generally subject to
reimbursement. We do not currently believe that our ViaCyte product candidate will be subject to reimbursement. In
cases of preserving eggs for fertility preservation for cancer patients, it is unknown at this time if it will be covered.
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We face potential liability related to the privacy of health information we obtain from research collaborators or
from providers who enroll patients and collect cord blood or human oocytes.
      Our business relies on the acquisition, analysis, and storage of potentially sensitive information about individuals�
health, both in our research activities and in our reproductive health product and service offerings. These data are
protected by numerous federal and state privacy laws.
          Most health care providers, including research collaborators from whom we obtain patient information, are
subject to privacy regulations promulgated under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or
HIPAA. Although we ourselves are not directly regulated by HIPAA, we could face substantial criminal penalties if
we knowingly receive individually identifiable health information from a health care provider who has not satisfied
HIPAA�s disclosure standards. In addition, certain state privacy laws and genetic testing laws may apply directly to our
operations and impose restrictions on our use and dissemination of individuals� health information. Moreover, patients
about whom we obtain information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may have contractual
rights that limit our ability to use and disclose the information. Claims that we have violated individuals� privacy rights
or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to
defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business.
Ethical and other concerns surrounding the use of stem cell therapy may negatively affect regulatory approval or
public perception of our products and product candidates, thereby reducing demand for our products and product
candidates.
          The use of embryonic stem cells for research and stem cell therapy has been the subject of debate regarding
related ethical, legal and social issues. Although we do not currently use embryonic stem cells as a source for our
research programs, the use of other types of human stem cells for therapy could give rise to similar ethical, legal and
social issues as those associated with embryonic stem cells. The commercial success of our product candidates will
depend in part on public acceptance of the use of stem cell therapy, in general, for the prevention or treatment of
human diseases. Public attitudes may be influenced by claims that stem cell therapy is unsafe or unethical, and stem
cell therapy may not gain the acceptance of the public or the medical community. Adverse events in the field of stem
cell therapy that may occur in the future also may result in greater governmental regulation of our product candidates
and potential regulatory delays relating to the testing or approval of our product candidates. In the event that our
research becomes the subject of adverse commentary or publicity, the market price for our common stock could be
significantly harmed.
Our business involves the use of hazardous materials that could expose us to environmental and other liability.
          We have facilities in Massachusetts and Kentucky that are subject to various local, state and federal laws and
regulations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory and manufacturing practices, the experimental use of
animals and the use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances, including chemicals,
micro-organisms and various radioactive compounds used in connection with our research and development activities.
In the U.S., these laws include the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Toxic Test Substances Control Act and the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and disposing
of these materials comply with the standards prescribed by these regulations, we cannot assure you that accidental
contamination or injury to employees and third parties from these materials will not occur. We do not have insurance
to cover claims arising from our use and disposal of these hazardous substances other than limited clean-up expense
coverage for environmental contamination due to an otherwise insured peril, such as fire.
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Volatility of Our Stock Price.
     The market price for our common stock is highly volatile, and likely will continue to fluctuate due to a variety of
factors, including:
� material public announcements;

� the data, positive or negative, generated from the development of our product candidates;

� setbacks or delays in any of our research or development programs;

� the outcome of material litigation or governmental proceedings;

� the financial results achieved by our cord blood preservation business;

� the impact of competition;

� unusual or unexpectedly high expenses;

� developments related to patents and other proprietary rights;

� market trends affecting stock prices in our industry; and

� economic or other external factors.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Sales of Unregistered Securities
     None.
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
     We registered shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public offering under the Securities Act.
Our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-114209) in connection with our initial public offering was
declared effective by the SEC on January 19, 2005. The offering commenced as of January 20, 2005. 8,625,000 shares
of our common stock registered were sold in the offering. The offering did not terminate before any securities were
sold. We completed the offering on January 26, 2005. Credit Suisse and UBS Investment Bank were the managing
underwriters. All 8,625,000 shares of our common stock registered in the offering were sold, with an initial public
offering price per share of $7.00. The aggregate purchase price of the offering was $60,375,000, of a maximum
potential registered aggregate offering price of $92,000,000. The net offering proceeds to us after deducting total
related expenses were approximately $53,300,000.
          No payments for the above expenses nor other payments of proceeds were made directly or indirectly to (i) any
of our directors, officers or their associates, except as described below, (ii) any person(s) owning 10% or more of any
class of our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates.
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          The net proceeds of the initial public offering, after payment of approximately $15.5 million for all outstanding
principal and interest on promissory notes held by funds affiliated with MPM Asset Management LLC, the manager
of which served on our board of directors until June 9, 2005, are invested in investment grade securities with the
weighted average days to maturity of the portfolio less than six months and no security with an effective maturity in
excess of 12 months. To date, apart from the payment of promissory notes of $15.5 million and normal investing
activities, we have not used any of the net proceeds from the initial public offering and there has been no material
change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offering as described in our final prospectus filed with
the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act.
Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

     None.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
     None.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
     None.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
     (a) None.
     (b) None.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
     See the Exhibit Index following the �Signatures� page below
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SIGNATURES
     In accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

VIACELL, INC.

November 8, 2007 /s/ Marc D. Beer

Marc D. Beer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 8, 2007 /s/ John F. Thero

John F. Thero
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

No. Item
10.1(1) First Lease Amendment dated as of September 11, 2007 by and between ViaCell, Inc. and

Dugan Financing LLC

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act
of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act
of 2002

(1) Incorporated by
reference to the
Company�s
current report on
Form 8-K
(No. 000-51110)
filed with the
SEC on
September 17,
2007.
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FONT-FAMILY: times new roman; FONT-SIZE: 10pt">obtain a signed and dated acknowledgment from the
purchaser demonstrating that the purchaser has received the required risk disclosure document before a transaction in
a “penny stock” can be completed; and

• give bid and offer quotations and broker and salesperson compensation information to
the customer orally or in writing before or with the confirmation.

These rules make it more difficult for broker-dealers to effectuate customer transactions and trading activity in our
securities and may result in a lower trading volume of our common stock and lower trading prices.

    Our shares of common stock may be thinly traded, so you may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all.

We cannot predict the extent to which an active public market for our common stock will develop or be sustained. Our
common stock is currently traded on the OTC Bulletin Board where they have historically been thinly traded, if at all,
meaning that the number of persons interested in purchasing our common stock at or near bid prices at any given time
may be relatively small or non-existent.
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This situation may be attributable to a number of factors, including the fact that we are a small company that is
relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock brokers, institutional investors and others in the investment community
who generate or influence sales volume, and that even if we came to the attention of such persons, they tend to be risk
averse and would be reluctant to follow an unproven company such as ours or purchase or recommend the purchase of
our shares until such time as we have become more seasoned and viable. As a consequence, there may be periods of
several days, weeks or months when trading activity in our shares is minimal or non-existent, as compared to a
seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will generally support continuous sales
without an adverse effect on share price. We cannot assure you that a broader or more active public trading market for
our common stock will develop or be sustained, or that current trading levels will be sustained or not diminish.

    Securities analysts may elect not to report on our common stock or may issue negative reports that adversely affect
the stock price.

        At this time, no securities analysts provide research coverage of our common stock, and securities analysts may
not elect not to provide such coverage in the future. It may remain difficult for our company, with its small market
capitalization, to attract independent financial analysts that will cover our common stock. If securities analysts do not
cover our common stock, the lack of research coverage may adversely affect the stock’s actual and potential market
price. The trading market for our common stock may be affected in part by the research and reports that industry or
financial analysts publish about our business. If one or more analysts elect to cover our company and then downgrade
the stock, the stock price would likely decline rapidly. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our
company, we could lose visibility in the market, which, in turn, could cause our stock price to decline. This could have
a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.
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    If we fail to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 our business could be harmed and our
stock price could decline.

Rules adopted by the SEC pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 require an annual assessment of
our internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we are subject to the rules requiring an annual assessment
of our internal controls.  The standards that must be met for management to assess the internal control over financial
reporting as effective are complex, and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation to meet the
detailed standards.  If we cannot assess our internal control over financial reporting as effective, investor confidence
and share value may be negatively impacted.

    We have not paid cash dividends in the past and do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
return on investment may be limited to the value of our common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our capital
stock in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends on our capital stock will depend on our earnings, financial
condition and other business and economic factors affecting us at such time as the board of directors may consider
relevant. If we do not pay dividends, our common stock may be less valuable because a return on your investment will
only occur if the common stock price appreciates.

    Stockholders may experience significant dilution if future equity offerings are used to fund operations or acquire
complementary businesses.

If future operations or acquisitions are financed through the issuance of additional equity securities, stockholders
could experience significant dilution. Securities issued in connection with future financing activities or potential
acquisitions may have rights and preferences senior to the rights and preferences of our common stock.  In addition,
the issuance of shares of our common stock upon the exercise of outstanding options or warrants may result in dilution
to our stockholders.

    We may become involved in securities class action litigation that could divert management’s attention and harm our
business.

The stock market in general, and the stocks of early stage companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. These fluctuations have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of
the companies involved. If these fluctuations occur in the future, the market price of our shares could fall regardless of
our operating performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company’s
securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. If the market price or volume
of our shares suffers extreme fluctuations, then we may become involved in this type of litigation, which would be
expensive and divert management’s attention and resources from managing our business.

As a public company, we may also from time to time make forward-looking statements about future operating results
and provide some financial guidance to the public markets. The management has limited experience as a management
team in a public company and as a result projections may not be made timely or set at expected performance levels
and could materially affect the price of our shares. Any failure to meet published forward-looking statements that
adversely affect the stock price could result in losses to investors, stockholder lawsuits or other litigation, sanctions or
restrictions issued by the SEC.

    We have a significant number of outstanding warrants and options, and future sales of these shares could adversely
affect the market price of our common stock.
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       As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding warrants for an aggregate of 10,271,914 shares of common stock at
a weighted average exercise price of $0.68 per share and options exercisable for an aggregate of 16,193,172 shares of
common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $1.52 per share. The holders may sell these shares in the public
markets from time to time, without limitations on the timing, amount or method of sale. As and when our stock price
rises, if at all, more outstanding warrants and options will be in-the-money and the holders may exercise their warrants
and options and sell a large number of shares. This could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
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Item 2.                                Properties

As of December 31, 2011, we lease approximately 13,000 square feet of office space in Irvine, California with two
years remaining on the lease and approximately 13,000 square feet of space for laboratory manufacturing in Boulder,
Colorado with five years remaining on the lease.  We also rent an apartment with approximately 1,100 square feet in
Irvine, California, and an apartment with less than 1,100 square feet in Longmont, Colorado.  We do not own any real
estate.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, our total annual rental expense was approximately $467,700.

Item 3.                                Legal Proceedings

We are not involved in any legal proceedings which management believes may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, operations, cash flows, or prospects.

Item 4.                                Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.                                Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

ChromaDex common stock is currently quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board (“OTC BB”) under the symbol
“CDXC.OB.”  The OTC BB is a network of securities dealers who buy and sell stock.  The dealers are connected by a
computer network that provides information on current “bids” and “asks”, as well as volume information.

The following table sets forth the range of high and low bid prices for ChromaDex common stock for each of the
periods indicated as reported by the OTC BB.  These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up,
mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2011
Quarter Ended High $ Low $
December 31, 2011 $ 1.14 $ 0.31
October 1, 2011 $ 1.80 $ 0.40
July 2, 2011 $ 1.70 $ 1.10
April 2, 2011 $ 2.01 $ 1.30

Fiscal Year Ending January 1, 2011
Quarter Ended High $ Low $
January 1, 2011 $ 1.66 $ 1.13
October 2, 2010 $ 1.67 $ 1.11
July 3, 2010 $ 2.07 $ 0.18
April 3, 2010 $ 0.66 $ 0.35

On March 8, 2012, the high and low bid prices were $0.73 and $0.31, respectively.

Prior to its merger with Cody Resources on June 20, 2008, ChromaDex stock had not been quoted in the market.

Prior to the merger, Cody Resources Inc. was quoted on the OTC BB under the symbol “CDYE.OB.”

Penny Stock

The SEC has adopted rules that regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in penny
stocks.  Penny stocks are generally equity securities with a market price of less than $5.00, other than securities
registered on certain national securities exchanges, provided that current price and volume information with respect to
transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system.  The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer,
prior to a transaction in a penny stock, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure document prepared by the SEC, that:
(a) contains a description of the nature and level of risk in the market for penny stocks in both public offerings and
secondary trading; (b) contains a description of the broker’s or dealer’s duties to the customer and of the rights and
remedies available to the customer with respect to a violation of such duties or other requirements of the securities
laws; (c) contains a brief, clear, narrative description of a dealer market, including bid and ask prices for penny stocks
and the significance of the spread between the bid and ask price; (d) contains a toll-free telephone number for
inquiries on disciplinary actions; (e) defines significant terms in the disclosure document or in the conduct of trading
in penny stocks; and (f) contains such other information and is in such form, including language, type size and format,
as the SEC shall require by rule or regulation.
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The broker-dealer also must provide, prior to effecting any transaction in a penny stock, the customer with (a) bid and
offer quotations for the penny stock; (b) the compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction;
(c) the number of shares to which such bid and ask prices apply, or other comparable information relating to the depth
and liquidity of the market for such stock; and (d) a monthly account statement showing the market value of each
penny stock held in the customer’s account.

In addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those
rules, the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the
purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written acknowledgment of the receipt of a risk disclosure statement, a written
agreement as to transactions involving penny stocks, and a signed and dated copy of a written suitability statement.

These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the trading activity for our common stock. Therefore,
stockholders may have difficulty selling our securities.

Holders of Our Common Stock

As of February 24, 2012, we had approximately 98 registered holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock during either of the two most recent fiscal
years and have no current intention to pay any cash dividends.  Our ability to pay cash dividends is governed by
applicable provisions of Delaware law and is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors.

Item
6.

Selected Financial Data

Not Applicable.

Item
7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operation, together with
the financial statements and the related notes appearing in Item 8 of this report.

Overview

We supply phytochemical reference standards, which are small quantities of plant-based compounds typically used to
research an array of potential attributes, and reference materials, related contract services, and proprietary
ingredients.    We perform chemistry-based analytical services at our laboratory in Boulder, Colorado, typically in
support of quality control or quality assurance activities within the dietary supplement industry. We have recently
developed and launched the BluScience line of new retail dietary supplement products containing one of these
proprietary ingredients, pTeroPure, which we also sell as an ingredient for incorporation into the products of other
companies.

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on the ChromaDex financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  The
preparation of these financial statements requires making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as
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well as the reported revenues, if any, and expenses during the reporting periods.  On an ongoing basis, we evaluate
such estimates and judgments, including those described in greater detail below.  We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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We anticipate that our current cash, cash equivalents and cash generated from operations, the capital raised subsequent
to the year ended December 31, 2011 (see Liquidity and Capital Resources below in Item 7 of this Form 10-K) will be
sufficient to meet our projected operating plans through the end of December, 2012. We may, however, seek
additional capital prior to the end of December, 2012 both to meet our projected operating plans after December, 2012
and/or to fund our longer term strategic objectives. To the extent we are unable to raise additional cash or generate
sufficient revenue prior to December, 2012 to meet our projected operating plans, we will revise our projected
operating plans accordingly. Additional capital may come from public and private stock or debt offerings, borrowings
under lines of credit or other sources. These additional funds may not be available on favorable terms, or at all.
Furthermore, if we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, our existing stockholders may experience
dilution and the new equity or debt securities we issue may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
our existing stockholders. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our products or proprietary technologies, or to grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to
develop or enhance our products, obtain the required regulatory clearances or approvals, achieve long term strategic
objectives, take advantage of future opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated customer
requirements. Any of these events could adversely affect our ability to achieve our development and
commercialization goals, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. If we are unable to establish small to medium scale production capabilities through our own plant
or though collaboration we may be unable to fulfill our customers’ requirements. This may cause a loss of future
revenue streams as well as require us to look for third party vendors to provide these services. These vendors may not
be available, or charge fees that prevent us from pricing competitively within our markets.

Our new dietary supplement product line based on the ingredient pTeroPure, BluScience, has recently been launched
at most GNC corporate-owned stores nationwide. Two BluScience products are now available at Walgreen’s, and we
anticipate that this retailer will soon be making additional BluScience products available for sale. BluScience is also
now listed at Drugstore.com. There are currently four specific products in the range (HeartBlu, EternalBlu, Blu2Go
and TrimBlu), each of which is directed toward providing a specific health benefit which we believe there is evidence
that pTeroPure supports, In addition, each of the products in the range is co-formulated with other ingredients that also
support or enhance that product’s particular health benefit. Beyond the distribution obtained to date at GNC,
Drugstore.com and Walgreen’s, we are seeking to launch BluScience at numerous additional retailers, including
several of the other largest dietary supplement retailers, within the next 12 months.

Some of our operations are subject to regulation by various state and federal agencies.  The current impact of this
regulation on our business is not significant, but we expect a significant increase in the regulation of our target
markets. Dietary supplements are subject to FDA and USDA regulations relating to composition and labeling. These
regulations in some cases, particular for new ingredients, require a notification that must be submitted to the FDA
along with evidence of safety. There are similar regulations related to food additives.

Results of Operations

We generated net sales of $8,112,610 for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011 and $7,566,370 for the
twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. We incurred a net loss of $7,894,984 for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2011 and a net loss of $2,051,676 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. This equated to a
$0.12 loss per basic and diluted share for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011 versus a $0.04 loss per
basic and diluted share for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.

Over the next two years, we plan to continue to increase research and development efforts for our line of proprietary
ingredients and to increase marketing and sales related expenses for these products, including our new dietary
supplement product line BluScience.  We also intend to continue to expand our service capacity through hiring and to

Edgar Filing: VIACELL INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 62



implement accreditation and certification programs related to quality initiatives. In addition, we plan to expand our
chemical library program and to either establish a GMP compliant pilot plant to support small to medium scale
production of target compounds or partner through a collaboration with a company that has these capabilities.

-31-

Edgar Filing: VIACELL INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 63



Table of Contents

Twelve months ending
December 31,

2011
January 1,
2011 Change

Sales $8,112,610 $7,566,370 7 %
Cost of sales 5,640,791 4,621,525 22 %
Gross profit 2,471,819 2,944,845 -16 %
Operating expenses - Sales and marketing 2,539,252 1,085,510 134 %
                                  - General and administrative 7,796,806 3,876,488 101 %
Nonoperating - Interest income 1,397 1,545 -10 %
                     - Interest expenses (32,142 ) (36,068 ) -11 %
Net loss $(7,894,984 ) $(2,051,676 ) 285 %

Net Sales

Net sales consist of gross sales less returns and discounts. Net sales increased by 7% to $8,112,610 for the twelve
month period ended December 31, 2011 as compared to $7,566,370 for the twelve month period ended January 1,
2011. This increase was primarily due to increased sales of our proprietary ingredients and other bulk dietary
supplement grade raw materials.

Cost of Sales

Costs of sales include raw materials, labor, overhead, and delivery costs. Cost of sales for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2011 was $5,640,791 versus $4,621,525 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. As
a percentage of net sales, this represented an 8% increase for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011
compared with the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. This percentage increase in cost of sales is largely due
to an increase in sales of proprietary ingredients and other bulk dietary supplement grade raw materials.  These
proprietary ingredients and bulk dietary supplement grade raw materials have significantly higher costs than other
products. We expect to see an increase in the sales of these proprietary ingredients and bulk dietary supplement grade
raw materials over the next twelve months.  Increases in sales of these types of products, if significant, will likely
cause us to experience lower gross margins as a percentage of sales during this time period.

Gross Profit

Gross profit is net sales less the cost of sales and is affected by a number of factors including product mix, competitive
pricing and costs of products and services.  Our gross profit decreased 16% to $2,471,819 for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2011 from $2,944,845 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. The increase in direct
costs of sales as a percentage of net sales was the primary cause for the decrease in gross profit.

Operating Expenses - Sales and Marketing

Sales and Marketing Expenses consist of salaries, commissions to employees and advertising and marketing expenses.
Sales and marketing expenses for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011 was $2,539,252 as compared to
$1,085,510 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. This increase was largely due to our increased
marketing efforts for our line of proprietary ingredients, including the launch of our new dietary supplement product
line BluScience which is based on the ingredient pTeroPure.  For the launch of BluScience, we not only expanded our
sales and marketing organization, but also incurred significant additional expenses in advertising, public relations,
professional consulting and tradeshows compared to previous periods.
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Operating Expenses - General and Administrative

General and Administrative Expenses consist of research and development, general company administration, IT,
accounting and executive management. General and Administrative Expenses for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2011, was $7,796,806 as compared to $3,876,488 for the twelve month period ended January 1,
2011.  One of the factors that contributed to this increase was an increase in share-based compensation expenses. Our
share-based compensation expense increased to $2,969,150 for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011
from $1,262,071 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.  This large increase in share-based compensation
expense was largely due to our issuance of restricted stock to certain employees and consultants and was also the
result of the stock options that were granted following consummation of the 2010 Private Placement with certain
investors on May 20, 2010. We will continue to incur significant share-based compensation expenses over the next
two years, as the expenses for the restricted stock and the post-closing grants are recognized on a straight-line method
over the expected vesting periods.  We have also expanded our executive management and administrative staff in
support of the launch of BluScience and pTeroPure.  Wages, benefits and payroll taxes for executive management and
administrative staff increased to $1,699,644 for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011 from $1,146,190
for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.  Another factor that contributed to the increase in general and
administrative expenses was the increase in investor relations expense for the purpose of increasing market and
shareholder awareness.  Our investor relations expense increased to $517,891 for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2011 from $221,515 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.  In addition, we incurred
certain legal, research and development expenses related to our line of proprietary ingredients.  Legal and research and
development expenses related to our line of proprietary ingredients increased to $381,765 for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2011 from $80,276 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.

Nonoperating - Interest Income

Interest income consists of interest earned on money market accounts. Interest income for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2011, was $1,397 as compared to $1,545 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.

Nonoperating - Interest Expense

Interest expense consists of interest on capital leases. Interest expense for the twelve month period ended December
31, 2011, was $32,142 as compared to $36,068 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.

Depreciation and Amortization

For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011, we recorded approximately $328,632 in depreciation
compared to approximately $313,777 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011. We depreciate our assets on
a straight-line basis, based on the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. We amortize intangible assets using a
straight-line method over 10 years. In the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011, we recorded amortization
on intangible assets of approximately $70,249 compared to approximately $73,635 for the twelve month period ended
January 1, 2011.

In December 2011, the Company decided to discontinue its BioluminexTM operation.  BioluminexTM is an assay for
biological activity and toxicity screening of complex mixtures such as waste water, food and beverage samples and
natural product extracts.  In September 2005, the Company licensed patents related to this technology from L&J
Becvar, LP.  In consideration of licensed rights to these patents, the Company paid a license fee of $110,000 in cash
and issued common stock equal to two percent of outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis.  The licensed rights to
these patents were recognized as intangible assets with an estimated fair value of $360,000 and a useful life of 10
years.  At December 31, 2011, the Company determined that these assets no longer had any carrying value as the
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of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Income Taxes

At December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against the entire
deferred income tax balance which resulted in an effective tax rate of zero for 2011 and 2010.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

From inception and through December 31, 2011, we have incurred aggregate losses of approximately $18.1 million.
These losses are primarily due to overhead costs and general and administrative expenses associated with the
development and expansion of our operations. These operations have been financed through capital contributions and
the issuance of common stock.

Our board of directors periodically reviews our capital requirements in light of our proposed business plan. Our future
capital requirements will remain dependent upon a variety of factors, including cash flow from operations, our ability
to increase sales, increasing our gross profits from current levels, reducing sales and administration expenses as a
percentage of net sales, continued development of customer relationships, and our ability to market our new products
successfully. However, based on our results from operations, we may determine that we need additional financing to
implement our business plan, and there can be no assurance that it will be available on terms favorable to us or at all.
If adequate financing is not available, we may have to delay or terminate product and service expansion and curtail
general and administrative operations in order to maintain sufficient operating capital. The inability to raise additional
financing may have a material adverse effect on us.

Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2011, we sold 9,966,666 shares of our common stock at a price per share
of $0.75 for gross proceeds of $7,475,000, or $6,739,498 after deducting offering costs in a registered direct offering
of these shares.  We also sold 4,933,329 restricted shares of our common stock at a price per share of $0.75 for gross
proceeds of $3,699,997, or $3,330,740 after deducting offering costs.  In addition, as of December 31, 2011, we had
8,553,564 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $0.21 per share.  Assuming the full exercise of the
outstanding warrants for cash, we would receive additional proceeds of $1,796,248.  There is no guarantee that the
holders of these warrants will exercise any of the outstanding warrants for cash, and we will not receive any proceeds
from any of the outstanding warrants until they are exercised for cash. While we anticipate that our current levels of
capital will be sufficient to meet our projected operating plans through the end of December, 2012, we may seek
additional capital prior to December, 2012 both to meet our projected operating plans after December, 2012 and to
fund our longer term strategic objectives. To the extent we are unable to raise additional cash or generate sufficient
revenue to meet our projected operating plans prior to December, 2012, we will revise our projected operating plans
accordingly.

Net cash used in operating activities:

Net cash used in operating activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 was $4,099,000, compared to
$2,662,000 for the twelve months ended January 1, 2011.  Along with the net loss, an increase in inventories and
prepaid expenses for our new ingredients and retail product lines were the largest uses of cash during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2011, while the payment of unpaid compensation from prior years to two officers was
the largest use of cash during the twelve months ended January 1, 2011.

We expect that our operating cash flows may fluctuate significantly in future periods as a result of fluctuations in our
operating results, shipment timetables, trade receivables collections, inventory management, and the timing of our
payments among other factors.
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Net cash used in investing activities:

Net cash used in investing activities was $177,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, compared to
$199,000 for the twelve months ended January 1, 2011. The decrease in cash used in investing activities mainly
reflects the timing of purchases of leasehold improvements and equipment as well as purchases of intangible assets.

Net cash provided by financing activities:

Net cash provided by financing activities was $2,469,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, compared
to $4,616,000 for the twelve months ended January 1, 2011.  Net cash provided by financing activities for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2011 mainly consisted of proceeds from the exercise of warrants related to the 2010
Private Placement. Net cash provided by financing activities for the twelve months ended January 1, 2011 mainly
consisted of proceeds from both the issuance of common stock and the exercise of warrants related to the 2010 Private
Placement.

Dividend policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We presently intend to retain earnings for use
in our operations and to finance our business. Any change in our dividend policy is within the discretion of our board
of directors and will depend, among other things, on our earnings, debt service and capital requirements, restrictions in
financing agreements, if any, business conditions, legal restrictions and other factors that our board of directors deems
relevant.

Trade Receivables

As of December 31, 2011, we had $723,666 in trade receivables as compared to $1,001,563 as of January 1,
2011.  This decrease is due to decreased sales in the month of December, 2011 versus the month of December, 2010
as well as increased efforts in trade receivables collections.

Inventories

As of December 31, 2011 we had $2,905,600 in inventory as compared to $1,423,035 as of January 1, 2011. This
large increase is due to the raw materials and finished goods inventory for our new dietary supplement product line
which has recently been launched.

Accounts payable

As of December 31, 2011, we had $2,250,241 in accounts payable as compared to $514,598 as of January 1,
2011.  This increase was primarily due to the timing of payments related to our purchases of inventory for our new
dietary supplement product line.

Advances from Customers

As of December 31, 2011, we had $199,693 in advances from customers as compared to $112,427 as of January 1,
2011.  These advances are for large scale contract services and contract research projects where we require a deposit
before beginning work.  This increase was due to increase in the large scale projects during the last six months of
2011.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
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Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates, including those
related to the valuation of share-based payments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that of our significant accounting policies, which are described in Note 1 of the Financial Statements, set
forth in Item 8, the following accounting policies involve the greatest degree of judgment and complexity.
Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our
consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue recognition:

We recognize sales and the related cost of goods sold at the time the merchandise is shipped to customers or service is
performed, when each of the following conditions have been met:  an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, there
is a fixed price, and collectability is reasonably assured.

Shipping and handling fees billed to customers and the cost of shipping and handling fees billed to customers are
included in Net sales.  For the year ending in December 31, 2011, shipping and handling fee billed to customers was
$126,342 and the cost of shipping and handling fee billed to customers was $127,370.  For the year ending in January
1, 2011, shipping and handling fee billed to customers was $121,215 and the cost of shipping and handling fee billed
to customers was $102,112.  Shipping and handling fees not billed to customers are recognized as cost of sales.

Intangible Assets:

Intangible assets include licensing rights and are accounted for based on the fair value of consideration given or the
fair value of the net assets acquired, whichever is more reliable. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized
using the straight-line method over a period of 10 years, or, for licensed patent rights, the remaining term of the
patents underlying licensing rights (considered to be the remaining useful life of the license).

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on a periodic basis and when changes in circumstances indicate the
possibility that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Long-lived assets are grouped at the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets.  If the forecast of undiscounted
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets, an impairment charge would be recognized to reduce
the carrying value of the assets to fair value.  If a possible impairment is identified, the asset group’s fair value is
measured relying primarily on a discounted cash flow methodology.

Research and development costs:

Research and development costs consist of direct and indirect costs associated with the development of our
technologies. These costs are expensed as incurred.
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New accounting pronouncements:

For a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements, refer to Note 1 appearing in “Item 8 Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this report.

Item 7A.                      Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not Applicable.
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Item 8.                                Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary data are set forth in the pages listed below.

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 39
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ChromaDex Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Our report dated March 15, 2012 expressed an  opinion that  ChromaDex
Corporation and Subsidiaries’ had not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission..

/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Schaumburg, Illinois
March 15, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ChromaDex Corporation

We have audited ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries' management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A.   Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (b) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.  The following material weakness has been identified
and included in management's assessment.  The Company did not properly account for its non employee share based
compensation as required under Accounting Standards Codification 718 Stock Based Compensation. This material
weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2011
financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 15, 2012 on those financial statements.
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In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of
the control criteria, ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries has not maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the December 31, 2011 consolidated financial statements of ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries  and
our report dated March 15, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Schaumburg, Illinois
March 15, 2012
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ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

Assets 2011 2010

Current Assets
Cash $ 420,152 $ 2,226,459
Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts 2011 $9,000;
2010 $18,000 723,666 1,001,563
Inventories 2,905,600 1,423,035
Prepaid expenses and other assets 903,934 243,967
Total current assets 4,953,352 4,895,024

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment, net 1,172,288 1,303,108

Deposits and Other Noncurrent Assets
Deposits 44,159 31,415
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization 2011 $834,169; 2010
$990,420 100,106 277,855
Total deposits and other noncurrent assets 144,265 309,270

Total assets $ 6,269,905 $ 6,507,402

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,250,241 $ 514,598
Accrued expenses 755,967 371,020
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 77,356 78,577
Customer deposits and other 199,693 112,427
Deferred rent, current 59,743 62,664
Total current liabilities 3,343,000 1,139,286

Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 164,729 198,071

Deferred rent, less current 200,890 233,822

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' Equity
Common stock, $.001 par value; authorized 150,000,000 shares; issued
and outstanding 2011 72,939,996 and 2010 60,875,325 shares 72,940 60,875
Additional paid-in capital 20,542,532 15,034,550
Accumulated deficit (18,054,186 ) (10,159,202 )
Total stockholders' equity 2,561,286 4,936,223

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 6,269,905 $ 6,507,402
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ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

2011 2010

Sales $8,112,610 $7,566,370
Cost of sales 5,640,791 4,621,525

Gross profit 2,471,819 2,944,845

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 2,539,252 1,085,510
General and administrative 7,796,806 3,876,488
Operating expenses 10,336,058 4,961,998

Operating loss (7,864,239 ) (2,017,153 )

Nonoperating income (expenses):
Interest income 1,397 1,545
Interest expense (32,142 ) (36,068 )
Nonoperating expenses (30,745 ) (34,523 )

Net loss $(7,894,984 ) $(2,051,676 )

Basic and Diluted loss per common share $(0.12 ) $(0.04 )

Basic and Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 68,306,812 48,251,930

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

Common Stock Additional Accumulated
Total

Stockholders'

Shares Amount
Paid-in
Capital Deficit Equity

Balance, January 2, 2010 28,838,216 $28,838 $9,126,141 $(8,107,526 ) $1,047,453

Issuance of common stock, net of
offering costs of $188,372 26,249,983 26,250 3,460,376 - 3,486,626

Exercise of warrants 5,787,126 5,787 1,185,962 - 1,191,749

Share-based compensation - - 1,262,071 - 1,262,071

Net loss - - - (2,051,676 ) (2,051,676 )

Balance, January 1, 2011 60,875,325 60,875 15,034,550 (10,159,202 ) 4,936,223

Exercise of stock options 43,248 43 26,355 - 26,398

Exercise of warrants 12,021,423 12,022 2,512,477 - 2,524,499

Share-based compensation - - 2,969,150 - 2,969,150

Net loss - - - (7,894,984 ) (7,894,984 )

Balance, December 31, 2011 72,939,996 $72,940 $20,542,532 $(18,054,186 ) $2,561,286

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ChromaDex Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

2011 2010

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
  Net loss $(7,894,984 ) $(2,051,676 )
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) operating activities:
    Depreciation of leasehold improvements and equipment 328,632 313,777
    Amortization of intangibles 70,249 73,635
    Share-based compensation expense 2,969,150 1,262,071
    Loss from impairment of intangibles 133,500 -
    Loss from disposal of equipment - 20,640
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
    Trade receivables 277,897 (503,635 )
    Inventories (1,482,565 ) (500,275 )
    Prepaid expenses and other assets (672,711 ) (127,361 )
    Accounts payable 1,735,643 (33,712 )
    Accrued expenses 384,947 100,770
    Customer deposits and other 87,266 (14,091 )
    Deferred rent (35,853 ) (23,487 )
    Due to officers - (1,178,206 )
Net cash (used in) operating activities (4,098,829 ) (2,661,550 )

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
  Purchases of leasehold improvements and equipment (150,663 ) (169,136 )
  Purchase of intangible assets (26,000 ) (30,000 )
Net cash (used in) investing activities (176,663 ) (199,136 )

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs - 3,486,626
  Proceeds from exercise of stock options 26,398 -
  Proceeds from exercise of warrants 2,524,499 1,191,749
  Principal payments on capital leases (81,712 ) (62,608 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,469,185 4,615,767

Net increase (decrease) in cash (1,806,307 ) 1,755,081

Cash Beginning of Year 2,226,459 471,378

Cash Ending of Year $420,152 $2,226,459

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
  Cash payments for interest $32,142 $36,068
Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing Activity
  Capital lease obligation incurred for the purchase of equipment $47,149 $264,958
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Note 1.                                Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of business:  ChromaDex Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries, ChromaDex, Inc. and Chromadex
Analytics, Inc. (collectively, the “Company”) are a natural products company that provides proprietary, science-based
solutions and ingredients to the dietary supplement, food and beverage, cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries.  The
Company supplies ingredients, phytochemical reference standards, and related phytochemical products and
services.  The Company recently launched its BluScience retail consumer line based on its proprietary
ingredients.  The Company provides these products and services at various terms with payment terms of primarily net
30 days for non-retailers.

Significant accounting policies are as follows:

Basis of presentation:  The financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared on a consolidated basis
and reflect the consolidated financial position of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated from these financial statements. The Company’s fiscal
year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31.  The fiscal years ended December 31, 2011 (referred to as 2011),
and January 1, 2011 (referred to as 2010), each consisted of 52 weeks. Every fifth or sixth fiscal year, the inclusion of
an extra week occurs due to the Company’s floating year-end date. The fiscal year 2014 will include 53 weeks instead
of the normal 52 weeks.

Accounting estimates:  The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition:  The Company recognizes sales and the related cost of goods sold at the time the merchandise is
shipped to customers or service is performed, when each of the following conditions have been met:  an arrangement
exists, delivery has occurred, there is a fixed price, and collectability is reasonably assured.

Shipping and handling fees billed to customers and the cost of shipping and handling fees billed to customers are
included in Net sales.  For the year ending in December 31, 2011, shipping and handling fee billed to customers was
$126,342 and the cost of shipping and handling fee billed to customers was $127,370.  For the year ending in January
1, 2011, shipping and handling fee billed to customers was $121,215 and the cost of shipping and handling fee billed
to customers was $102,112.  Shipping and handling fees not billed to customers are recognized as cost of sales.

Cash concentration:  The Company maintains substantially all of its cash in one bank account.

Trade accounts receivable:  Trade accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for
doubtful receivables based on a periodic review of all outstanding amounts. Management determines the allowance
for doubtful accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience applied to an aging of
accounts. Trade accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of trade accounts
receivable previously written off are recorded when received.

Inventories:  Inventories are comprised of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods.  They are stated at the
lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out method (FIFO) method, or market.  The inventory on the balance
sheet is recorded net of valuation allowances of $226,582 and $167,260 for the periods ended December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011 respectively.  Labor and overhead has been added to inventory that was manufactured or
characterized by the Company.  The amounts of major classes of inventory for the periods ended December 31, 2011
and January 1, 2011 are as follows:
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2011 2010
Reference standards $1,458,912 $1,180,922
Bulk ingredients 174,847 409,373
Dietary supplements – raw materials 709,476 -
Dietary supplements – work in process 38,293 -
Dietary supplements – finished goods 750,654 -

3,132,182 1,590,295
Less valuation allowance 226,582 167,260

$2,905,600 $1,423,035

Intangible assets:  Intangible assets include licensing rights and are accounted for based on the fair value of
consideration given or the fair value of the net assets acquired, whichever is more reliable. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 10 years, or, for licensed patent rights, the
remaining term of the patents underlying licensing rights (considered to be the remaining useful life of the license).

Leasehold improvements and equipment:  Leasehold improvements and equipment are carried at cost and depreciated
on the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful life of each asset or lease term. Leasehold
improvements and equipment are comprised of leasehold improvements, laboratory equipment, furniture and fixtures,
and computer equipment. Depreciation on equipment under capital lease is included with depreciation on owned
assets.  Useful lives of leasehold improvements and equipment for each of the category are as follows:

Useful Life
Leasehold improvements Until the end of the lease

term
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Laboratory equipment 10 years

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on a periodic basis and when changes in circumstances indicate the
possibility that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Long-lived assets are grouped at the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets.  If the forecast of undiscounted
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets, an impairment charge would be recognized to reduce
the carrying value of the assets to fair value.  If a possible impairment is identified, the asset group’s fair value is
measured relying primarily on a discounted cash flow methodology.

Customer deposits:  Customer deposits represent cash received from customers in advance of product shipment or
delivery of services.

Income taxes:  Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for
deductible temporary differences and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and deferred liabilities are
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the
opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of
enactment.

The Company has not recorded a reserve for any tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but
for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. The Company files tax returns in all appropriate
jurisdictions, which include a federal tax return and various state tax returns. Open tax years for these jurisdictions are
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Research and development costs:  Research and development costs consist of direct and indirect costs associated with
the development of the Company’s technologies. These costs are expensed as incurred.  Research and development
costs for the periods ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 were $96,788 and $26,244, respectively.

Advertising: The Company expenses the production costs of advertising the first time the advertising takes
place.  Advertising expense for the periods ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 were $418,108 and
$134,633, respectively.

Share based compensation:  The Company has an Equity Incentive Plan under which the Board of Directors may grant
restricted stock or stock options to employees and non-employees.  For employees, share based compensation cost is
recorded for all option grants and awards of non-vested stock based on the grant date fair value of the award, and is
recognized over the period the employee is required to provide services for the award.  For non-employees, share
based compensation cost is recorded for all option grants and is remeasured over the vesting term as earned.  The
expense is recognized over the period the non-employee is required to provide services for the award.

The Company recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period using the straight-line method for
option grants without performance conditions.  For stock options that have both service and performance conditions,
the Company recognizes compensation expense using the graded attribution method.  Compensation expense for stock
options with performance conditions is recognized only for those awards expected to vest.

Financial instruments:  The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for accounts receivable and accounts
payable approximate their fair values.

New accounting pronouncements:  In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU) No. 2011-04,
“Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirement in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs”,
which updates Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) Topic 820.  ASU No. 2011-04 clarifies the intent of ASC 820
around the highest and best use concept being relevant only to nonfinancial assets, the fair value of instruments in
shareholders’ equity should be measured from the perspective of a market participant holding the instrument as an
asset, and the appropriate usage of premiums and discounts in a fair value measurement.  ASU No. 2011-04 is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011.  The adoption of ASU No. 2011-04 did
not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 2.                                Earnings Per Share

Potentially dilutive common shares consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of common
stock options and warrants for all periods.   For all periods presented, the basic and diluted shares reported are equal
because the common shares equivalents are anti-dilutive. Below is a tabulation of the potentially dilutive securities
that were “in the money” for the periods ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Years Ended
2011 2010

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 68,306,812 48,251,930
Warrants and options in the money, net 7,677,914 17,536,919
Weighted average common shares outstanding assuming dilution 75,984,726 65,788,849
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Total warrants and options that were not “in the money” at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 were 17,114,450
and 15,579,068 respectively.

Note 3.                                Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

2011 2010
Gross

Carrying Accumulated
Gross

Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized intangible assets:
License agreements $934,275 $834,169 $1,268,275 $990,420

Amortization expense on amortizable intangible assets included in the consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 was $70,249 and $73,635, respectively.

In December 2011, the Company decided to discontinue its BioluminexTM operation.  BioluminexTM is an assay for
biological activity and toxicity screening of complex mixtures such as waste water, food and beverage samples and
natural product extracts.  In September 2005, the Company licensed patents related to this technology from L&J
Becvar, LP.  In consideration of licensed rights to these patents, the Company paid a license fee of $110,000 in cash
and issued common stock equal to two percent of outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis.  The licensed rights to
these patents were recognized as intangible assets with an estimated fair value of $360,000 and a useful life of 10
years.  At December 31, 2011, the Company determined that these assets no longer had any carrying value as the
Company discontinued its operation related to these assets.  The unamortized carrying value of these intangible assets
was $133,500 and was recognized as an impairment charge in general and administrative expenses in the statements
of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the next five years is as follows:

Years ending December:
2012 13,428
2013 13,428
2014 13,428
2015 13,428
2016 13,428
Thereafter 32,966

$100,106
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Note 4.                                Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

Leasehold improvements and equipment consisted of the following:

2011 2010

Laboratory equipment $2,378,122 $2,336,954
Leasehold improvements 403,971 372,943
Computer equipment 302,518 248,374
Furniture and fixtures 18,313 18,313
Office equipment 7,877 3,445
Construction in progress 149,086 86,294

3,259,887 3,066,323
Less accumulated depreciation 2,087,599 1,763,215

$1,172,288 $1,303,108

Note 5.                                Capitalized Lease Obligations

The Company leases equipment under capitalized lease obligations with a total cost of $372,027 and $392,878 and
accumulated amortization of $77,883 and $71,421 as of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

Minimum future lease payments under capital leases as of December 31, 2011, are as follows:

Year ending December:
2012 $102,100
2013 80,920
2014 80,920
2015 20,767
2016 7,875
Total minimum lease payments 292,582
Less amount representing interest 50,497
Present value of net minimum lease payments 242,085
Less current portion 77,356
Long-term obligations under capital leases $164,729

Interest expense related to capital leases was $32,142 and $36,068 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011, respectively.

Note 6.                                Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of:

2011 2010

Salaries and vacation $361,269 $172,340
Professional services 120,797 83,927
Other 273,901 114,753

$755,967 $371,020
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Note 7.                                Income Taxes

A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) computed at the statutory federal income tax rate of 34% for 2011
and 2010 compared to the Company’s income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011
is as follows:

2011 2010

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate $(2,684,000 ) $(698,000 )
  (Increase) decrease resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal tax effect (382,000 ) (93,000 )
Nondeductible expenses 135,000 74,000
Change in effective tax rate (26,000 ) 67,000
Change in valuation allowance 2,953,000 642,000
    Other 4,000 8,000

$- $-

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following components as of December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011:

2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward $4,757,000 $2,920,000
Stock options and restricted stock 1,620,000 589,000
Inventory reserve 88,000 64,000
Allowance for doubtful accounts 4,000 7,000
Accrued expenses 86,000 36,000
Intangibles 63,000 66,000
Deferred rent 42,000 43,000

6,660,000 3,725,000
Less valuation allowance 6,493,000 3,540,000

167,000 185,000

Deferred tax liabilities:
Leasehold improvements and equipment (129,000 ) (148,000 )
Prepaid expenses (38,000 ) (37,000 )

(167,000 ) (185,000 )

$- $-
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The Company has tax net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future federal taxable income and future
state taxable income of approximately $12,187,000 and $11,425,000, respectively which begin to expire in year
ending December 31, 2023 and 2013, respectively.  Under the Internal Revenue Code, certain ownership changes may
subject the Company to annual limitations on the utilization of its net operating loss carryforward.  The Company has
determined that the stocks issued in the year 2010 created a change in control under the Internal Revenue Code
Section 382.  This limitation is not expected to be significant.

Note 8.                                Employee Equity Incentive Plan

Stock Option Plans

At the discretion of management and with approval of the Board of Directors, the Company may grant options to
purchase the Company’s common stock to certain individuals from time to time. Management and the Board of
Directors determine the terms of awards which include the exercise price, vesting conditions and expiration dates at
the time of grant. Expiration dates for stock options are not to exceed 10 years. The Company under its Second
Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan is authorized to issue stock options that total no more than 20% of
the shares of common stock issued and outstanding, as determined on a fully diluted basis.  Beginning in 2007, stock
options were no longer issuable under the Company’s 2000 Non-Qualified Incentive Stock Plan.  The remaining
amount available for issuance under the Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan totaled 1,040,312
at December 31, 2011. The stock option awards generally vest ratably over a four-year period following grant date
after a passage of time.  However, some stock option awards are performance based and vest based on the
achievement of certain criteria established by the Company.

 The fair value of the Company’s stock options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes based option
valuation model.  The table below outlines the weighted average assumptions for options granted to employees during
the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Year Ended December 2011 2010
Volatility 31.56 % 32.05 %
Expected dividends 0.00 % 0.00 %
Expected term 5.8 years 5.1 years
Risk-free rate 2.20 % 1.92 %

The Company calculated expected volatility from the volatility of publicly held companies in similar industries, as the
historical volatility of the Company’s common stock does not cover the period equal to the expected life of the
options.  The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and expectation on future dividend payouts
on the common stock.  The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield available on U.S. treasury zero-coupon
issues with an equivalent remaining term.    The expected term of the options represents the estimated period of time
until exercise and is based on historical experience of awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms, vesting
schedules and expectations of future employee behavior.  The estimation process for the fair value of performance
based stock options was the same as for non-performance based options.

1) Service Period Based Stock Options

The majority of options granted by the Company are comprised of service based options granted to employees.  These
options vest ratably over a defined period following grant date after a passage a service period.
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The following table summarizes service period based stock options activity at December 31, 2011 and changes
during the year then ended:

Weighted Average
Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2011 12,926,131 $1.52

Options Granted 1,402,177 1.56
Options Exercised (43,248 ) 0.61 $52,228
Options Forfeited (389,188 ) 1.48
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 13,895,872 $1.53 6.78 $25,854

Exercisable at December 31, 2011 6,798,689 $1.48 6.50 $18,140

The aggregate intrinsic values at December 31, 2011 in the table above are before income taxes, based on the
Company’s closing stock price of $0.55 on the last day of business for the year ended December 31, 2011.

2) Performance Based Stock Options

The Company also grants stock option awards that are performance based and vest based on the achievement of
certain criteria established by the Company.  If performance criteria are not met, the compensation expenses are not
recognized and the expenses that have been recognized will be reversed.

The following table summarizes performance based stock options activity at December 31, 2011 and changes during
the year then ended:

Weighted Average
Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2011 1,000,000 $1.65

Options Granted 200,000 1.59
Options Exercised - -
Options Forfeited - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,200,000 $1.64 8.93 $-

Exercisable at December 31, 2011 - $- - $-
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As of December 31, 2011, there was $2,289,689 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested
share-based compensation arrangements granted under the plans for employee stock options. That cost is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.69 years as of December 31, 2011.  The weighted average fair
value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011was $0.53, and $0.45
respectively.  The realized tax benefit from stock options for the years ended December 31, 2011, and January 1,
2011was $0, based on the Company’s election of the “with and without” approach. The fair value of the options that
vested during the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 was $1,763,180 and $301,078, respectively.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock awards granted by the Company to employees generally have two vesting conditions, a service
condition for continuous employment and a stock market condition tied to the Company’s stock price.  On November
15, 2010, the Company awarded 1,000,000 shares of restricted stock to our President, William F. Spengler.  These
restricted shares will fully vest in three years, provided that Mr. Spengler is continuously employed by the Company
through the vesting date and that a certain Stock Performance Condition is met.

The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock award was estimated at the date of award using the Hull-White based
binomial valuation model.  The table below outlines the assumptions of restricted stock awarded on November 15,
2010.

Summary of Significant Assumptions November 15, 2010
Expected Term 3.00
Expected Volatility 70.76 %
Expected Dividends 0.00 %
Risk Free Rate of Return 0.81 %

The Company calculated expected volatility from the volatility of publicly held companies in similar industries as
well as the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock.  Less weight was assigned to the volatility of the
Company’s common stock as the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock does not cover the period equal
to the expected life of the restricted stock.  The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and
expectation on future dividend payouts on the common stock.  The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield
available on U.S. treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent remaining term.  The company used the vesting
period of the restricted stock for estimating the expected term of the restricted stock.

The following table summarizes activity of restricted stock awards granted to employees at December 31, 2011 and
changes during the year then ended:

Weighted
Average

Award-Date
Shares Fair Value

Unvested shares at January 1, 2011 1,000,000 $1.27

Granted - -
Vested - -
Forfeited - -
Unvested shares at December 31, 2011 1,000,000 $1.27
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As of December 31, 2011, there was $794,018 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock
awards to employees under the plans.  That cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 1.88 years as of
December 31, 2011.

For the employee equity incentive plan, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $2,677,891
and $1,194,275 in general and administrative expenses in the statement of operations for the years ended December
31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Note 9.                                Non-Employee Share-Based Compensation

Stock Option Plans

At the discretion of management and with approval of the Board of Directors, the Company may grant options to
purchase the Company’s common stock to certain individuals from time to time who are not employees of the
Company.  These options are granted under the Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan of the
Company and are granted on the same terms as those being issued to employees.  Stock options granted to
non-employees are accounted for using the fair value approach.  The fair value of non-employee option grants are
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and are remeasured over the vesting term as earned.  The
estimated fair value is expensed over the applicable service period.

The following table summarizes activity of stock options granted to non-employees at December 31, 2011 and
changes during the year ended:

Weighted Average
Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2011 1,097,300 $1.23

Options Granted - -
Options Exercised - -
Options Forfeited - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,097,300 $1.23 6.26 $14,000

Exercisable at December 31, 2011 800,567 $1.13 5.54 $13,500

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table above are before income taxes, based on the Company’s closing stock price
of $0.55 on the last day of business for the year ended December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2011, there was $6,665 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested share
based compensation arrangements granted to non-employees. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 0.45 years as of December 31, 2011.   The weighted average fair value options granted during the
year ended January 1, 2011 was $0.40.  We did not grant any options during the year ended December 31, 2011 to
non-employees.  The fair value of the options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1,
2011 was $10,413 and $34,356, respectively.
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Restricted Stock

Restricted stock awards granted by the Company to non-employees generally have a time vesting condition tied to
respective service agreements.  In addition, there may be other vesting conditions such as achievement of certain
performance goals on certain awards.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company awarded 1,170,000 shares of restricted stock at a purchase
price of $0.14 per share to certain consultants as compensation for services to the Company.  These restricted shares
will fully vest on various dates in the year 2012, provided that no termination events defined in the related consulting
agreements have occurred on or prior to such vesting dates.  

The restricted stock awards to non-employees are accounted for using the fair value approach.  The fair value of
non-employee restricted stock awards at December 31, 2011 was $479,700, which represents the market value of the
Company’s common stock on December 31, 2011 less the purchase price.  The fair value is remeasured over the
vesting term until vested and the fair value is expensed over the applicable service period.

The following table summarizes activity of restricted stock awards to non-employees at December 31, 2011 and
changes during the year then ended:

Shares

Weighted
Average

Fair Value at
December 31,

2011
Unvested shares at January 1, 2011 - $-

Granted 1,170,000 0.41
Vested - -
Forfeited - -
Unvested shares at December 31, 2011 1,170,000 $0.41

Expected to Vest as of December 31, 2011 1,170,000 $0.41

As of December 31, 2011, there was $303,943 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock
awards to non-employees.  That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.73 year as of
December 31, 2011.

For non-employee share-based compensation, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of
$291,259 and $67,796 in general and administrative expenses in the statement of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Note 10.                      Warrants

During the year ended December 31, 2011, 12,021,423 of the Warrants with an exercise price of $0.21 per share have
been exercised and the Company received proceeds of $2,524,499 from exercise of the Warrants.  These Warrants
were issued during the year ended January 1, 2011 pursuant to the Subscription Agreement entered into by the
Company on April 22, 2010.
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At December 31, 2011, the following warrants were outstanding and exercisable:

Warrants granted
in connection with :

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Prices

Number
Outstanding

And
Exercisable
At December
31, 2011

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Life
2008 Private Placement Equity Offering $3.00 1,718,350 1.30
2010 Private Placement Equity Offering $0.21 8,553,564 1.39

$0.68 10,271,914 1.37

Note 11.                      Commitments

Lease

The Company leases its office and research facilities in California and Colorado under operating lease agreements that
expire at various dates from August 2012 through April 2016. Monthly lease payments range from $1,029 per month
to $20,854 per month, and minimum lease payments escalate during the terms of the leases. Generally accepted
accounting principles require total minimum lease payments to be recognized as rent expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. The excess of such expense over amounts required to be paid under the lease agreement is
carried as a liability on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

Minimum future rental payments under all of the leases are as follows:

Fiscal years ending:
2012 $467,870
2013 474,907
2014 270,801
2015 278,925
2016 93,886

$1,586,389

Rent expense was $467,675, and $467,468 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

Royalty

The Company has five royalty agreements related to certain products the Company offers to its customers.  These
agreements expire at various dates from December 31, 2019 through May 11, 2031.  Yearly minimum royalty
payments range from $5,000 per year to $30,000 per year, however yearly minimum royalty payments are deferred
until first commercial sale for certain agreements.  These minimum royalty payments escalate each year with a
maximum of $40,000 per year.  In addition, the Company is required to pay a range of 2% to 5% of sales related to the
licensed products under these agreements.  Total royalty expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 and January
1, 2011 was $37,258 and $63,263, respectively under these agreements.  Minimum royalties for the next five years are
$37,745, $37,681, $39,315, $41,031 and $42,833 for fiscal years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively.

Note 12.                      Litigation
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 We are not involved in any legal proceedings which management believes may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, operations, cash flows, or prospects.
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Note 13.                      Business Segmentation and Geographical Distribution

Revenue from international sources approximated $1,900,000 and $1,990,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011
and January 1, 2011, respectively.  International sources which the Company generates revenue include Europe, North
America, South America, Asia, and Oceania.

The Company’s operations comprise a single business segment and all of the Company’s long-lived assets are located
within the United States.

Note 14.                      Management’s Plans of Operations

The Company has incurred a loss from operations of $7,864,239 and a net loss of $7,894,984 for the year ended
December 31, 2011, and a net loss of $2,051,676 for the year ended January 1, 2011.  One of the factors that
contributed to this increase in loss was an increase in share-based compensation expense.  The Company’s share-based
compensation expense increased to $2,969,150 for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $1,262,071 for the year
ended January 1, 2011.  This large increase in share-based compensation expense was largely due to stock options that
were granted following consummation of the 2010 Private Placement and was also the result of the Company issuing
restricted stock to certain employees and consultants.  The Company will continue to incur significant share-based
compensation expenses over the next two years.  In addition, sales and marketing expenses increased to $2,539,252
for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011 from $1,085,510 for the twelve month period ended January 1,
2011, which contributed to the increase in loss.  The increase in sales and marketing expenses was largely due to the
Company’s increased marketing efforts for the Company’s line of proprietary ingredients, including the launch of the
Company’s new dietary supplement product line BluScience which is based on the ingredient pTeroPure.  For the
launch of BluScience, we not only expanded our sales and marketing staff, but also incurred significant additional
expenses in advertising, public relations, professional consulting and tradeshows compared to previous
periods.  Another factor that contributed to this increase in loss was the expansion of the Company’s executive
management and administrative staff in support of launch of BluScience and pTeroPure.  Wages, benefits and payroll
taxes for executive management and administrative staff increased to $1,699,644 for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2011 from $1,146,190 for the twelve month period ended January 1, 2011.

Management has also implemented additional strategic operational structure changes, which it believes will allow the
Company to achieve profitability with future growth without incurring significant additional overhead
costs.  Management’s anticipation of future growth is largely related to the new line of proprietary ingredients offered
by the Company and the demand for retail products containing these ingredients.    The Company has also expanded
its marketing plan to market to the pharmaceutical and cosmetic sectors to support the Company’s reference standards,
analytical services and discovery libraries product lines.

Subsequent to the period ended December 31, 2011, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with investors
in a registered direct offering and sold 9,966,666 shares of common stock at a price per share of $0.75 for gross
proceeds of $7,475,000, or $6,739,498 after deducting offering costs.  In addition, the Company entered into an
agreement with investors including several members of the Company’s management and sold 4,933,329 restricted
shares of common stock at a price per share of $0.75 for gross proceeds of $3,699,997, or $3,330,740 after deducting
offering costs.  More information regarding these capital raises is set forth in Note 15.  The Company anticipates the
capital raised from these transactions will be sufficient to implement its current business plan through the end of
December, 2012.  However, if the Company determines that it needs additional financing to further enable its
long-term strategic objectives, there can be no assurance that it will be available on terms favorable to it or at all.  If
adequate financing is not available, the Company may have to delay, postpone or terminate product and service
expansion and curtail general and administrative operations in order to maintain sufficient operating capital after
December, 2012.  The inability to raise additional financing may have a material adverse effect on the future
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Note 15.     Subsequent Events

On January 31, 2012, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with investors in a registered direct offering of
common stock at a price per share of $0.75.  In addition, on January 31, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement
with investors including several members of the Company’s management for the sale of restricted shares of common
stock at a price per share of $0.75 per share in a private placement.  On February 9, 2012, the registered direct offering
was consummated and the Company sold 9,966,666 shares of common stock at a price per share of $0.75 for gross
proceeds of $7,475,000, or $6,739,498 after deducting offering costs.  In addition, on February 10, 2012, the sale to
investors including several members of the Company’s management in a private placement was consummated and the
Company sold 4,933,329 restricted shares of common stock at a price per share of $0.75 per share for gross proceeds
of $3,699,997, or $3,330,740 after deducting offering costs.

On January 23, 2012, Jeffrey Himmel joined the Company as its Chief Executive Officer.  The role of Chief
Executive Officer was previously held by Frank Jaksch Jr., a member of the Company’s Board of Directors.  In
connection with the appointment of Mr. Himmel as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Jaksch was appointed
as its Chief Scientific Officer.  Mr. Jaksch will remain a member of the Board.  The Company continues to consider
Mr. Jaksch as its principal executive officer. In connection with his employment, Mr. Himmel was issued (i) 100,000
shares of the Company’s common stock; (ii) an option to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock;
and (iii) an option to purchase an additional 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.  The options issued to
Mr. Himmel have a term of five years, have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock of
the Company on the date of the grant, and fully vest in three years.  In addition, Mr. Himmel was awarded 1,000,000
shares of the Company’s restricted common stock at a purchase price of $0.001 per share.  The shares will vest in full
on February 1, 2015 provided that certain stock performance condition is met. 

       On February 13, 2012, Jeffrey Himmel agreed to assume the additional position of President of the Company and
William Spengler ceased serving in all positions held with the Company and its subsidiaries.  In addition, on February
17, 2012 Mr. Spengler resigned from his position as a director of the Company.

On February 21, 2012, the Board of Directors appointed Debra Heim, its Chief Operating Officer and President of
Consumer Products, of the Company.  In connection with her employment, Ms. Heim was issued (i) 75,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock; (ii) an option to purchase 750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock; and (iii) an
option to purchase an additional 750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.   The options issued to Ms. Heim
have a term of five years, have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock of the Company
on the date of the grant, and fully vest in three years.  In addition, Ms. Heim was awarded 750,000 shares of the
Company’s restricted common stock at a purchase price of $0.001 per share.  The shares will vest in full on February
1, 2015 provided that certain stock performance condition is met.
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Item
9. 

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

We have had no disagreements with our independent registered public accounting firm on accounting and financial
disclosure.

Item
9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2011. Pursuant to Rule13a−15(e) promulgated by the
Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended “disclosure controls and procedures” means
controls and other procedures that are designed to insure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports
that we file with the Commission is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the Commission’s rules and forms. “Disclosure controls and procedures” include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to insure that information that we are required to disclose in the reports we file with the
Commission is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive officer and principal financial officer as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on their evaluation, our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of
December 31, 2011, based upon the material weakness discussed below.

Inherent Limitations on Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures is subject to various inherent limitations, including cost
limitations, judgments used in decision making, assumptions about the likelihood of future events, the soundness of
our systems, the possibility of human error, and the risk of fraud. Moreover, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions and the risk that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate over time. Because
of these limitations, there can be no assurance that any system of disclosure controls and procedures will be successful
in preventing all errors or fraud or in making all material information known in a timely manner to the appropriate
levels of management.

Changes in Internal Controls

There was no change in internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a−15(f) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter that has materially
affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our  internal control over financial reporting.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting are
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Our internal control over financial reporting include those policies and procedures that:

(i)     pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

(ii)    provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors;
and

(iii)   provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Our management, including the undersigned principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting presented in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as of December 31, 2011. In conducting its assessment, our
management used the criteria issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31,
2011, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on those criteria due to the material
weakness disclosed below.

During our 2011 year-end audit, our independent auditors identified a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting regarding our  treatment of the measurement date and subsequent expense recognition for restricted
stock issued to certain of our consultants.  As a result, our management has concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was ineffective as December 31, 2011 at the reasonable assurance level.

We believe that we have remediated this material weakness and improved the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting by hiring an additional independent accounting firm to provide treatment guidance on all
equity instruments issued to consultants and third parties.  Management believes this change in our internal controls
has remediated the corresponding material weakness described above.
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Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives
because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error and circumvention by collusion or
overriding of control. Accordingly, even an effective internal control system may not prevent or detect material
misstatements on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  Accordingly, our internal control over financial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report includes an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Our management’s report was subject to attestation by our independent
registered public accounting firm since we are presently reporting as an “accelerated filer.”  As a result of the
ineffectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, the report of our independent registered public
accounting firm contains an adverse opinion regarding such internal control over financial reporting control but it does
not state that there is or has been an ineffectiveness leading to misstatement, material or otherwise, in our financial
statements.

Item 9B.                      Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10.                      Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Except as hereinafter noted, the information concerning our directors and executive officers is incorporated by
reference from the section entitled “Proposal 1: Election of Directors”, “Corporate Governance”, and “Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year.

               We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our employees, including our principal executive
officer, our principal financial and accounting officer, and all employees who perform these functions. A full text of
our Code of Conduct is published on our website at www.chromadex.com under the tab “Investor Relations-Corporate
Governance-Highlights.”  If we amend our Code of Conduct as it applies to our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller (or persons performing similar functions) or grant a waiver
from any provision of the code of conduct to any such person, we will disclose such amendment or waiver on our
website at www.chromadex.com under the tab “Investor Relations-Corporate Governance-Highlights.”

Item 11.                      Executive Compensation

Information concerning management remuneration and transactions is incorporated by reference from the section
entitled “Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year.
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Item 12.                      Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Information concerning beneficial stock ownership is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2011:

A B C

Plan Category

Number of
securities
to be issued

upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Weighted-
average
exercise
price of

outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for

future
issuance

under equity
compensation

plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (A))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 16,193,172 $1.52 1,040,312 (1)

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders - - -

Total 16,193,172 $1.52 1,040,312 (1)

(1) Pursuant to our Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, we are
authorized to issue shares under this plan that total no more than 20% of our shares of
common stock issued and outstanding, as determined on a fully diluted basis.

Item 13.                      Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information concerning relationships and related transactions with management and others is incorporated by
reference from the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” of our
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year.

Item 14.                      Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accounting fees and services is incorporated by reference from the section entitled
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Public Accountants” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year.
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PART IV

Item 15.                      Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements

Reference is made to Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

List of Exhibits

Reference is made to the Exhibit Index immediately preceding such Exhibits of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, on the 15th day of March 2012.

CHROMADEX CORPORATION

By:    /s/ FRANK L. JAKSCH JR.
 Frank L. Jaksch Jr.
 Chief Scientific Officer

               Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ FRANK L. JAKSCH JR. Chief Scientific Officer and Director March 15, 2012
Frank L. Jaksch Jr. (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ THOMAS C.
VARVARO

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary March 15, 2012

Thomas C. Varvaro (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

/s/ MICHAEL BRAUSER Co-Chairman of the Board and Director March 15, 2012
Michael Brauser

/s/ BARRY C. HONIG Co-Chairman of the Board and Director March 15, 2012
Barry C. Honig

/s/ STEPHEN BLOCK Director March 15, 2012
Stephen Block

/s/ REID DABNEY Director March 15, 2012
Reid Dabney

/s/ GLENN L. HALPRYN Director March 15, 2012
Glenn L. Halpryn

/s/ CURTIS A. LOCKSHIN Director March 15, 2012
Curtis A. Lockshin

/s/ HUGH DUNKERLEY Director March 15, 2012
Hugh Dunkerley

/s/ MARK S. GERMAIN Director March 15, 2012
Mark S. Germain
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/s/ JEFFREY HIMMEL Director  March 15, 2012
 Jeffrey Himmel
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No.

Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 21, 2008, among Cody, CDI Acquisition,
Inc. and ChromaDex, Inc. as amended on June 10, 2008 (incorporated by reference from, and
filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission
on June 24, 2008)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of ChromaDex Corporation, a Delaware
corporation (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Appendix A to the Company’s
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on May 4, 2010)

3.2 Bylaws of ChromaDex Corporation, a Delaware corporation (incorporated by reference from,
and filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 24, 2008)

4.1 Form of Stock Certificate representing shares of ChromaDex Corporation Common Stock
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on April 3, 2009)

4.2 Investor’s Rights Agreement, effective as of December 31, 2005, by and between The
University of Mississippi Research Foundation and ChromaDex (incorporated by reference
from, and filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 24, 2008)

4.3 Tag-Along Agreement effective as of December 31, 2005, by and among the Company,
Frank Louis Jaksch, Snr. & Maria Jaksch, Trustees of the Jaksch Family Trust, Margery
Germain, Lauren Germain, Emily Germain, Lucie Germain, Frank Louis Jaksch, Jr., and the
University of Mississippi Research Foundation (incorporated by reference from, and filed as
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June
24, 2008)

4.4 License Agreement, effective September 15, 2005 between L&J Becvar, L.P. and
ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

4.5 Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of ChromaDex Corporation
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 30, 2008)

4.6 Form of Warrant under the Subscription Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2010 (incorporated
by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on April 26, 2010)

10.1 ChromaDex, Inc. 2000 Non-Qualified Incentive Stock Option Plan effective October 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)(1)+

10.2 Second Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan effective March 13, 2007, as
amended May 20, 2010 (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Appendix B to the
Company’s Current Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commission
on May 4, 2010)(1)+

10.3 Form of Stock Option Agreement under the ChromaDex, Inc. Second Amended and Restated
2007 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)(1)+

10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement under the ChromaDex, Inc. 2007 Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)(1)+
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10.5 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 19, 2010, by and between Frank
L. Jaksch, Jr. and ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 22,
2010)(1)+

10.6 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 19, 2010, by and between
Thomas C. Varvaro and ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
April 22, 2010)(1)+

10.7 Employment Agreement dated as of October 27, 2010, between ChromaDex, Inc. and
William F. Spengler (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on November 1, 2010)+

10.8 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of March 14, 2011, between ChromaDex,
Inc. and William F. Spengler+ (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.8 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 16, 2011)

10.9 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Company and existing
directors and officers on October 27, 2010 (incorporated by reference from and filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
November 1, 2010)+

10.10 Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease – Net dated December 19, 2006, by and
between ChromaDex, Inc. and SCIF Portfolio II, LLC (incorporated by reference from, and
filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.11 Lease Agreement dated October 26, 2001, by and between Railhead Partners, LLC and
NaPro BioTherapeutics, Inc., as assigned to Chromadex Analytics, Inc. on April 9, 2003 and
amended on September 24, 2003 (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.8 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.12 First Amendment to Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease, made as of July
18, 2008, between SCIF Portfolio II, LLC (“Lessor”) and ChromaDex, Inc. (“Lessee”)
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 23, 2008)

10.13 Second Addendum to Lease Agreement, made as of April 27, 2009, by and between Railhead
Partners, LLC and Chromadex Analytics, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
April 28, 2009)

10.14 Licensing Agreement Nutraceutical Standards effective as of December 31, 1999 between the
University of Mississippi Research Foundation and ChromaDex (incorporated by reference
from, and filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.15 Equity Based License Agreement dated October 25, 2001, by and between the Company and
Bayer Innovation Beteiligungsgesellshaft mbH, as amended as of October 30, 2003
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.16 License Agreement, effective September 15, 2005 between L&J Becvar, L.P. and
ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.17 Patent License Agreement between the Board of Regents of The University of Texas Systems
and ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.18 Stock Redemption Agreement, dated June 18, 2008 between ChromaDex, Inc. and Bayer
Innovation GmbH (formerly named Bayer Innovation Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH)
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Current Report
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on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)
10.19 Promissory Note, dated June 18, 2008 between ChromaDex, Inc. as borrower and Bayer

Innovation GmbH as lender (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

10.20 Technology License Agreement dated June 30, 2008 between The Research Foundation of
the State University of New York and ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Commission on August 12, 2008)*

10.21 Subscription Agreement, dated November 29, 2009, between Jinke Group (Hong Kong) Ltd
and ChromaDex Corporation (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 3, 2009)

10.22 Subscription Agreement, dated April 22, 2010, between ChromaDex Corporation and the
subscribers listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference from, and filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
April 26, 2010)

10.23 License Agreement, dated March 25, 2010 between the University of Mississippi and
ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 18, 2010)*

10.24 First Amendment to License Agreement, made as of June 3, 2011 between the University of
Mississippi and ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 11,
2011)*

10.25 License Agreement, dated July 5, 2011 between ChromaDex, Inc. and Cornell University
(incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 10, 2011)*

10.26 Exclusive License Agreement, dated September 8, 2011 between the Regents of the
University of California and ChromaDex, Inc. (incorporated by reference from, and filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on
November 10, 2011)*

21.1 Subsidiaries of ChromaDex (incorporated by reference from, and filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2008)

23.1 Consent of  McGladrey & Pullen, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firmv
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to §240.13a-14 or §240.15d-14 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedv
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to §240.13a-14 or §240.15d-14 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedv
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)v
101 The following financial information from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31, 2011, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 15, 2012, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’
Equity, (v) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 _________
v Filed herewith.
(1)Plan and related Forms were assumed by ChromaDex Corporation pursuant to Agreement and Plan of Merger,

dated as of May 21, 2008, among ChromaDex Corporation (formerly Cody Resources, Inc.), CDI Acquisition, Inc.
and ChromaDex, Inc.

+           Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
*
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This Exhibit has been granted confidential treatment and has been filed separately with the Commission.  The
confidential portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and are marked by an asterisk.
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